Dell EMC NetWorker Module for MEDITECH

Version 18.1

Installation and Administration Guide 302-004-261 REV 03



Copyright [©] 2007-2018 Dell Inc. or its subsidiaries. All rights reserved.

Published September, 2018

Dell believes the information in this publication is accurate as of its publication date. The information is subject to change without notice.

THE INFORMATION IN THIS PUBLICATION IS PROVIDED "AS-IS." DELL MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND WITH RESPECT TO THE INFORMATION IN THIS PUBLICATION, AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. USE, COPYING, AND DISTRIBUTION OF ANY DELL SOFTWARE DESCRIBED IN THIS PUBLICATION REQUIRES AN APPLICABLE SOFTWARE LICENSE.

Dell, EMC, and other trademarks are trademarks of Dell Inc. or its subsidiaries. Other trademarks may be the property of their respective owners. Published in the USA.

Dell EMC Hopkinton, Massachusetts 01748-9103 1-508-435-1000 In North America 1-866-464-7381 www.DellEMC.com

CONTENTS

Tables		5
Figures		7
Preface		9
Chapter 1	Overview	13
	Introduction to the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH architecture	14 15
Chapter 2	Installation and Upgrade	19
	Installation prerequisites	20
	Host requirements	20
	Licensing requirements.	21
	MEDITECH requirements	ا ک 21
	Array bardware requirements	ر کے 21
	VNX requirements	21
	Unity requirements	23
	Symmetrix VMAX requirements	23
	Dell Storage SC Series requirements	23
	XtremIO requirements	24
	RecoverPoint and RecoverPoint for virtual machine requirement 24	ts
	Installing the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH	24
	Uninstalling the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH	24
	Upgrading the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH	25
	Upgrading from 8.2.x or later to 18.1	25
	Upgrading from 3.0 to 18.1	25
	Reverting to the previous version of the NetWorker Module for	
	MEDITECH	26
Chapter 3	Interface Overview	27
	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH interface overview	28
	Configure view	28
	Selecting a NetWorker server	29
	Recover view	30
	Log files	30 31
Chapter 4	Configuration	33
3.149.01	Configuration prerequisites	
	General requirements	34
	VNX configuration requirements	34
	-	

3

	Unity configuration requirements Symmetrix VMAX configuration requirements	36 38
	Dell Storage SC Series configuration requirements	39
	RecoverPoint configuration requirements	40
	XtremIO configuration requirements	41
	RecoverPoint for virtual machine configuration requirements	43
	Configuration prerequisites for a distributed proxy host environment	44
	Configuring backups and recoveries	45
	Configuration roadmap	46
	Configuration tasks	47
Chapter 5	Backups	61
	Scheduling backups	62
	ISB	62
	IDR	63
	IDR In-Frame	63
	Configuring scheduled backups	63
	Checking the backups status	65
	Viewing the backups status and reports	65
	Backing up the configuration file	68
Chapter 6	Recoveries	71
	Recovering ISB data	72
	Recovering IDR data	75
	Recovering IDR In-Frame data	79
	Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use VNX	79
	Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use Symmetrix VMA	×80
	Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use Unity	82
	Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use XtremIO	84
	Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use Dell Storage SC S	Series 85
	Performing redirected recoveries	87
	Recovering the configuration file	87
Chapter 7	Troubleshooting	89
	Troubleshooting the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH issues	90
Appendix A	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH Commands	93
	Overview of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH commands	94
	nsrmedisv	94
	Command syntax	94
	Command options	96
	nsrmedirc	97
	Command syntax	97
	Command options	97
	nwmedi	98
	Command syntax	98
	Command options	99

TABLES

1	Revision history	9
2	Style conventions	10
3	Supported snapshot and clone methods	21
4	Supported arrays and snapshot technologies in a distributed proxy server environ	ment 22
5	nsrmedisv command options	96
6	nsrmedirc command options	97
7	nwmedi command options	99

5

TABLES

FIGURES

1	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH general architecture	15
2	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH ISB architecture	16
3	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH ISB architecture in a distributed proxy host environment	. 16
4	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH IDR - local replication architecture	17
5	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH IDR - remote replication architecture	17
6	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH IDR In-Fame architecture	18
7	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH - RecoverPoint for virtual machine	10
Q	Configure view	0 . ספר
0 0	Soloct the NetWorker server	. 20 20
9 10	Becover view	23. ۲۵
10	Monitor view	.00 71
12	Add coherency group	
13	Edit coherency group	50
13 14	Add VNX / I nity storage array	51
15	Add Symmetrix VMAX storage array	52
16	Add Dell Storage SC Series storage array	. 52 53
17	Edit VNX / I nity storage array	.55 54
1/	Edit Symmetrix VMAX storage array	-5. 5⊿
10	Edit Dell Storage SC Series storage array	-05 55
20	Add storage device	56
20	Edit storage device	56.
21	Add XMS device	.50 57
22	Edit XMS device	. 57 58
20	Add vCenter Server	50. 59
25	Edit vCenter Server	60. 60
26	Status of the backups	66.
27	email notification	67
28	Configure reports	. 07 68
29	Change time	72
30	ISB backed up segments	73
31	Select target I UN	74
32	Change time	75
33	IDR backed up segments	76
34	Unisphere for RecoverPoint - Select a copy	. 77
35	Unisphere for RecoverPoint - Select an Image	. 77
36	Unisphere for RecoverPoint - Start Recovery	. 78
37	VNX LUN properties.	. 79
38	Unisphere for VNX	80
39	Symmetrix VMAX VPSNAP - I UN properties	.81
40	Symmetrix VMAX SNAPVX - I UN properties	.82
41	Unity LUN properties	.83
42	Unisphere - Consistency Group properties	. 83
43	XtremIO LUN properties	.84
44	XtremIO Storage Management Application	85
45	Dell Storage SC Series LUN properties	.86
46	Dell Storage Manager	.86

7

FIGURES

Preface

As part of an effort to improve product lines, periodic revisions of software and hardware are released. Therefore, all versions of the software or hardware currently in use might not support some functions that are described in this document. The product release notes provide the most up-to-date information on product features.

If a product does not function correctly or does not function as described in this document, contact a technical support professional.

Note

This document was accurate at publication time. To ensure that you are using the latest version of this document, go to the Support website at https://support.emc.com.

Purpose

This document describes installation, configuration, backup, and recovery processes for NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.

Audience

This guide is part of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH documentation set. It is intended for use by system administrators during installation and setup of the product. Operators, who schedule and monitor backups also can find this guide helpful.

Readers of this guide must be familiar with the following topics:

- NetWorker 18.1 client and extended client
- VNX
- Symmetrix VMAX
- Unity
- RecoverPoint
- RecoverPoint for virtual machines
- VPLEX
- XtremIO
- Dell Storage SC Series
- vCenter Server

Revision history

The following table presents the revision history of this document.

Table 1 Revision history

Revision	Date	Description				
03 September 26, 2018		Updated the following sections:				
		 Snapshot and reassign workflow requirements on page 41 				
		Proxy on a virtual machine on page 42				

9

Table 1 Revision history (continued)

Revision	Date	Description			
		Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use XtremIO on page 84			
02	August 03, 2018	Updated Unity configuration requirements on page 36.			
01	July 07, 2018	First release of this document for the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH 18.1 release.			

Related documentation

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH documentation set includes the following publications:

- NetWorker Module for MEDITECH Installation and Administration Guide
- NetWorker Module for MEDITECH Release Notes

Special notice conventions that are used in this document The following conventions are used for special notices:

NOTICE

Identifies content that warns of potential business or data loss.

Note

Contains information that is incidental, but not essential, to the topic.

Typographical conventions

The following type style conventions are used in this document:

Table 2 Style conventions

Bold	Used for interface elements that a user specifically selects or clicks, for example, names of buttons, fields, tab names, and menu paths. Also used for the name of a dialog box, page, pane, screen area with title, table label, and window.
Italic	Used for full titles of publications that are referenced in text.
Monospace	Used for:
	System code
	System output, such as an error message or script
	 Pathnames, file names, file name extensions, prompts, and syntax
	Commands and options
Monospace italic	Used for variables.
Monospace bold	Used for user input.
[]	Square brackets enclose optional values.

Table 2 Style conventions (continued)

I	Vertical line indicates alternate selections. The vertical line means or for the alternate selections.
{ }	Braces enclose content that the user must specify, such as x , y , or z .
	Ellipses indicate non-essential information that is omitted from the example.

You can use the following resources to find more information about this product, obtain support, and provide feedback.

Where to find product documentation

- https://support.emc.com
- https://community.emc.com

Where to get support

The Support website at https://support.emc.com provides access to licensing information, product documentation, advisories, and downloads, as well as how-to and troubleshooting information. This information may enable you to resolve a product issue before you contact Support.

To access a product specific Support page:

- 1. Go to https://support.emc.com/products.
- 2. In the **Find a Product by Name** box, type a product name, and then select the product from the list that appears.
- ^{3.} Click .
- 4. (Optional) To add the product to **My Saved Products**, in the product specific page, click **Add to My Saved Products**.

Knowledgebase

The Knowledgebase contains applicable solutions that you can search for by solution number, for example, 123456, or by keyword.

To search the Knowledgebase:

- 1. Go to https://support.emc.com.
- Click Advanced Search. The screen refreshes and filter options appear.
- 3. In the **Search Support or Find Service Request by Number** box, type a solution number or keywords.
- 4. (Optional) To limit the search to specific products, type a product name in the **Scope by product** box, and then select the product from the list that appears.
- 5. In the **Scope by resource** list box, select **Knowledgebase**. The **Knowledgebase Advanced Search** panel appears.
- 6. (Optional) Specify other filters or advanced options.
- 7. Click 🔍.

Live chat

To participate in a live interactive chat with a support agent:

- 1. Go to https://support.emc.com.
- 2. Click Chat with Support.

Service requests

To obtain in-depth help from Licensing, submit a service request. To submit a service request:

- 1. Go to https://support.emc.com.
- 2. Click Create a Service Request.

Note

To create a service request, you must have a valid support agreement. Contact a sales representative for details about obtaining a valid support agreement or with questions about an account. If you know the service request number, then directly enter the service request number in the Service Request field to get the valid details.

To review an open service request:

- 1. Go to https://support.emc.com.
- 2. Click Manage service requests.

Online communities

Go to the Community Network at https://community.emc.com for peer contacts, conversations, and content on product support and solutions. Interactively engage online with customers, partners, and certified professionals for all products.

How to provide feedback

Feedback helps to improve the accuracy, organization, and overall quality of publications. You can send feedback to DPAD.Doc.Feedback@emc.com.

CHAPTER 1

Overview

This chapter includes the following sections:

•	Introduction to the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH	14
•	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH architecture	.15

Introduction to the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH 18.1 enables you to perform the following tasks:

- Schedule and manage backups and recoveries of MEDITECH volumes when the volumes are present on the VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, Dell Storage SC Series, and XtremIO storage systems.
- Schedule and manage backups and recoveries of the MEDITECH volumes when the volumes are present on the VNX with RecoverPoint, Unity with RecoverPoint, Symmetrix VMAX with RecoverPoint, VPLEX with RecoverPoint, XtremIO with RecoverPoint, and vCenter Server with RecoverPoint for virtual machine storage systems.
- Integrate NetWorker with the MEDITECH application to perform the scheduled backups, and create disaster recovery point-in-time snapshots of the data with minimal interruption to the application.
- Integrate the product with MEDITECH Backup Facility (MBF) to take hardware or array point-in-time snapshots to back up the MEDITECH data to the NetWorker devices.
- Perform Integrated Serverless Backups (ISBs) of the LUNs that VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, Dell Storage SC Series, XtremIO, RecoverPoint, and RecoverPoint for virtual machine (vCenter Server) support to a NetWorker device, such as tape, Data Domain (DDBoost and DDBoost over FC), and disk.
- Perform ISBs of the LUNs that VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, and XtremIO (only snapshot and reassign workflow) support to a NetWorker device, such as tape, Data Domain (DDBoost and DDBoost over FC), and disk, by using the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH distributed proxy host feature.
- Perform Integrated Disaster Recovery (IDR) backups to create bookmarks at regular intervals according to the user-defined schedule on a RecoverPoint appliance or a RecoverPoint for virtual machine (vCenter Server), and then validate the bookmarks in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- Perform in-frame point-in-time IDR backups by using the VNX's VNX-SNAP, Unity's VNXe-SNAP, Symmetrix VMAX's VPSNAP and SNAPVX, Dell Storage SC Series, and XtremIO snapshot features.
- Perform backups and recoveries in a quick and predictable timeframe
- View the backup and recovery information
- Perform redirected recoveries of ISB data

NOTICE

Review the following notes:

- The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH is supported only on the English (United States), that is, en-US locale.
- In this guide, the term *XtremIO* if not succeeded by the term *with RecoverPoint*, indicates a native XtremIO array. This guide contains the terms *XtremIO* and *XtermIO* with *RecoverPoint* according to the context.
- In this guide, any backup and recovery operation that uses the distributed proxy host feature explicitly mentions the feature name.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH architecture

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH with the NetWorker client on the proxy host communicates with the MEDITECH Backup Intermediary (MBI) servers and the VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, XtremIO, Dell Storage SC Series, RecoverPoint, and vCenter Server with RecoverPoint storage systems to perform backups.

The following figures illustrate the general, ISB, ISB in a distributed proxy host environment, IDR, and IDR In-Frame architectures of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH respectively.



Figure 1 The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH general architecture



Figure 2 The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH ISB architecture

Figure 3 The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH ISB architecture in a distributed proxy host environment





Figure 4 The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH IDR - local replication architecture

RecoverPoint Local Replication

Figure 5 The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH IDR - remote replication architecture



RecoverPoint Remote Replication



Figure 6 The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH IDR In-Fame architecture





vCenter Infrastructure

CHAPTER 2

Installation and Upgrade

This chapter includes the following sections:

•	Installation prerequisites	. 20
•	Host requirements	. 20
•	Installing the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH	. 24
•	Uninstalling the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.	24
•	Upgrading the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH	25

Installation prerequisites

Only either Dell-EMC professional services team or implementation partners, who are certified MEDITECH hardware integrators, must install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH. The installation includes new hardware installations and changes. Contact your sales representative to arrange for either the professional services team or the implementation partners to help you to install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH and the supported software.

You can find the list of certified MEDITECH hardware integrators in the following location:

https://home.meditech.com/en/d/newmeditech/pages/ collaborativesolutions.htm#hint

You can find the list of certified implementation partners in the following location:

http://www.emc.com/partners/partner-finder/search.htm#/

Ensure that the professional services team or the implementation partners meet the following requirements before they install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH:

- The professional services team or the implementation partners contacted your sales representative to arrange the professional services team to help you to install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH and the supported software.
- The professional services team or the implementation partners installed and configured the MEDITECH Backup Facility (MBF) on the MEDITECH servers. Contact your MEDITECH representative for directions and support to install and configure the MBF utility.
- The professional services team or the implementation partners created the C: \Program Files\Meditech folder on the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host and copied the MBF64.exe file that you obtained from MEDITECH to this folder.
- The professional services team or the implementation partners installed and configured NetWorker 8.2.x, 9.0.x, 9.1.x, 9.2.x or 18.1 server. Each version's installation and administration guides provide information. The latest *NetWorker Online Software Compatibility Matrix* that is available at http://compatibilityguide.emc.com:8080/CompGuideApp/ lists the most up-todate information about the supported NetWorker server versions.
- The professional services team or the implementation partners installed and configured NetWorker 18.1 client and NetWorker 18.1 extended client on the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host. The *NetWorker Installation Guide* and the *NetWorker Administration Guide* provide information.
- The professional services team or the implementation partners installed and configured the software that you need on the proxy host, and configured the storage systems that you need. Host requirements on page 20 provides information about the required software. The corresponding software or hardware product documentation provides more information.

Host requirements

The following sections describe host requirements.

Licensing requirements

The *NetWorker Licensing Guide* provides detailed information about NetWorker licensing.

MEDITECH requirements

The *NetWorker Online Software Compatibility Matrix*, which is available at http:// compatibilityguide.emc.com:8080/CompGuideApp/, provides the most up-to-date information about supported MEDITECH versions and configurations.

Operating system requirements

The *NetWorker Online Software Compatibility Matrix*, which is available at http:// compatibilityguide.emc.com:8080/CompGuideApp/, provides the most up-to-date information about supported operating systems and versions.

Array hardware requirements

The *NetWorker Online Software Compatibility Matrix*, which is available at http:// compatibilityguide.emc.com:8080/CompGuideApp/, provides the most up-to-date information about supported array versions.

The following table lists the array snapshot and clone methods that the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports:

ISB			IDR and IDR In-Frame				
	Local array supported	Remote array supported	Proxy on a virtual machine supported		Local array supported	Remote array supported	Proxy on a virtual machine supported
VNX				VNX			
CLONE	Yes	No	Yes	SanCopy	No	No	No
VNX-SNAP	Yes	No	No	VNX-SNAP	Yes	No	Yes
RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes	RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes
Unity	1			Unity			
VNXe-SNAP	Yes	No	Yes	VNXe-SNAP	Yes	No	Yes
RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes	RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes
Symmetrix V	/MAX			Symmetrix VMAX			
CLONE	Yes	No	Yes	RDF/CLONE	No	No	No
VPSNAP	Yes	No	Yes	VPSNAP	Yes	No	Yes
SNAPVX	Yes	No	Yes	SNAPVX	Yes	No	Yes
RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes	RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes
Dell Storage SC Series			Dell Storage	SC Series			

Table 3 Supported snapshot and clone methods

21

ISB				IDR and IDR In-Frame			
	Local array supported	Remote array supported	Proxy on a virtual machine supported		Local array supported	Remote array supported	Proxy on a virtual machine supported
Snapshot	Yes	N/A	No	Snapshot	Yes	N/A	Yes
RecoverPoint	No	No	No	RecoverPoint	No	No	No
VPLEX	VPLEX			VPLEX	•		
RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes	RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes
XtremIO	•	•		XtremIO			
Snapshot	Yes	N/A	Yes	Snapshot	Yes	N/A	Yes
RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes	RecoverPoint	Yes	Yes	Yes
Array that M	EDITECH an	d VMware supp	oorts	Array that MEDITECH and VMware supports			rts
RecoverPoint for virtual machine	Yes	Yes	Yes	RecoverPoint for virtual machine	Yes	Yes	Yes
Note RecoverPoint for virtual machine does not support proxy on a physical host.			Note RecoverPoint for physical host.	or virtual mach	ine does not suppor	rt proxy on a	

Table 3 Supported snapshot and clone methods (continued)

NOTICE

When you use a virtual machine:

- 1. Zone or mask the LUNs to the ESXi server, on which the proxy virtual machine is present.
- 2. Create a Raw Device Mapping (RDM) of the LUNs to the proxy virtual machine.

The following table lists the arrays and the corresponding snapshot technologies that the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports in a distributed proxy server environment:

Table 4 Supported arrays and snapshot technologies in a distributed proxy server environment

Array	Supported snapshot technology on a physical host	Supported snapshot technology on a virtual machine
VNX	CLONE VNX-SNAP	CLONE
Unity	VNXe-SNAP	VNXe-SNAP
Symmetrix VMAX	CLONE VPSNAP	CLONE VPSNAP

Table 4 Supported arrays and snapshot technologies in a distributed proxy server

 environment (continued)

Array	Supported snapshot technology on a physical host	Supported snapshot technology on a virtual machine		
	SNAPVX	SNAPVX		
XtremIO	Snapshot	Snapshot		

Note

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports only the snapshot and reassign workflow when you use XtremIO.

VNX requirements

For the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to support VNX, install the following software:

- Solutions Enabler 8.4
- Unisphere Host Agent
- Navisphere CLI
- SnapCLI
- Unisphere admsnap
- Windows .NET Framework 4.0

Unity requirements

For the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to support Unity, install the following software:

- Solutions Enabler 8.4
- Unisphere CLI
- Windows .NET Framework 4.0

Symmetrix VMAX requirements

For the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to support Symmetrix VMAX, install the following software:

- HBA Adapter and storport Miniport Driver that support Symmetrix VMAX
- Solutions Enabler 8.4
- Windows .NET Framework 4.0

Dell Storage SC Series requirements

For the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to support Dell Storage SC Series, install the following software:

• Solutions Enabler 8.4

• Windows .NET Framework 4.0

XtremIO requirements

For the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to support XtremIO, install the following software:

- Solutions Enabler 8.4
- Windows .NET Framework 4.0

RecoverPoint and RecoverPoint for virtual machine requirements

For the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to support RecoverPoint and RecoverPoint for virtual machine, install the following software:

- Solutions Enabler 8.4
- Windows .NET Framework 4.0

Installing the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH

You must install the NetWorker client, NetWorker extended client, and NetWorker Module for MEDITECH software on the proxy host. It is recommended that the NetWorker server software reside on a separate host. After you install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH software, you must configure the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host as a client on the NetWorker server.

Procedure

- 1. Log in as an administrator to the proxy host, on which you want to install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.
- 2. Verify whether the host meets all the requirements that the Host requirements on page 20 section lists.
- 3. Download the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH 18.1 software package from https://support.emc.com to a folder on the host.
- 4. Open the folder that contains the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH 18.1 software package.
- 5. In the ... \nmmedi181_win_x64 \nmmedi folder, double-click the NWM MEDITECH.exe file.
- 6. On the Welcome Wizard page, select I agree to the license term and agreements and click Install.
- 7. On the **Complete the Setup** page, click **Finish**.

Uninstalling the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH

Uninstalling the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH software does not remove the configuration file. You can uninstall and reinstall the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH software without re-creating the configuration file.

Procedure

- On the Windows desktop, select Start > Control Panel > Programs > Uninstall a program.
- 2. In the **Uninstall or change a program** window, perform one of the following steps:

- Select EMC NetWorker Module for MEDITECH, and then click Uninstall.
- Double-click EMC NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.
- 3. On the Install Modification page, select Remove and click Remove.
- 4. On the **Complete the Setup** page, click **Finish**.

Upgrading the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH

Upgrading the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH includes one of the following tasks:

- Upgrading from 8.2.x, 9.0.x, 9.1.x, or 9.2.x to 18.1
- Upgrading from 3.0 to 18.1

Upgrading from 8.2.x or later to 18.1

Procedure

- 1. Log in as an administrator to the proxy host, on which you want to upgrade the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.
- 2. Verify whether the host meets all the requirements that the Host requirements on page 20 section lists.
- 3. Backup the nsr\res\mediconfig.xml file.
- 4. Upgrade the NetWorker client to 18.1, and install the NetWorker extended client 18.1.
- 5. Download the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH 18.1 software package from https://support.emc.com to a folder on the host.
- 6. Open the folder that contains the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH 18.1 software package.
- 7. In the ... \nmmedi181_win_x64 \nmmedi folder, double-click the NWM MEDITECH.exe file.
- 8. On the **Welcome Wizard** page, select **I agree to the license term and agreements** and click **Upgrade**.
- 9. On the **Complete the Setup** page, click **Finish**.

After you finish

When you use Unity, ensure that you respecify the Windows registry setting for the UEMCLI system path. Unity configuration requirements on page 36 provides information.

Upgrading from 3.0 to 18.1

Procedure

1. Back up the nsr\res\mediconfig.xml file.

You can use the backed up ${\tt mediconfig.xml}$ file if you revert to the current NetWorker Module for MEDITECH version from 18.1.

- 2. Either delete or rename the nsr\res\mediconfig.xml file.
- 3. Uninstall the previous version of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.
- 4. Uninstall the NetWorker client.

5. Install the NetWorker 18.1 client and NetWorker 18.1 extended client.

The NetWorker Administration Guide provides information.

6. Install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH 18.1.

Installing the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH on page 24 provides information.

7. Set up coherency groups, storage devices, and storage arrays in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH Graphical User Interface (GUI).

Configuration tasks on page 47 provides information.

Reverting to the previous version of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH

Procedure

1. Back up the nsr\res\mediconfig.xml file.

Note

You can use the backed up mediconfig.xml file if you upgrade the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to the current version.

- 2. Uninstall the current version of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.
- 3. Install the previous version of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.

After you finish

If the NetWorker client does not support the previous version of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH, you must uninstall the NetWorker client and the NetWorker extended client, and then install the relevant previous version of the NetWorker client.

If you revert to a version earlier than 8.2 of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH, you must use the ISB servers instead of the MBI servers to perform backups and recoveries.

CHAPTER 3

Interface Overview

This chapter includes the following section:

•	The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH interface overview	
•	Configure view	
•	Recover view	30
•	Monitor view	
•	Log files	

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH interface overview

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH user interface contains three views: Configure, Recover, and Monitor.

Note

When you start the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH for the first time, if the configuration file mediconfig.xml does not exist, a message that states that you have not yet created the configuration information appears. To create the configuration file, and continue to use the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH, click **OK** in the message box.

The Recover and Monitor views rely on the selection of a NetWorker server. The following sections provide you an overview of the views and the tasks that you can perform:

- Configure view
- Recover view
- Monitor view
- Log files

Configure view

Use the Configure view to specify the following features and hardware:

- Coherency groups of the MEDITECH MBI servers to back up
- VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, and Dell Storage SC Series arrays that the hosts use to store data
- XMS devices, which are management systems of XtremIO arrays, to enable the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to communicate with the XtremIO arrays to perform backups
- RecoverPoint appliances that the hosts use to store data
- vCenter Servers to protect source file server virtual machines and replica virtual machines that are present on them

Figure 8 Configure view

8			Net	Vorker Modul	e for MEDI	ECH				x
File Help										
NetWorker server	r:LYNXP 🧾		Client: L	'NXP						
Configure	Add Group	Edit Group	emove Group	Add Array	Edit Array	Remove Array	Add Device	Edit Device	Remove D	evice
Monitor	Coherer Coherer Storage Stora	Arrays Devices Servers	B R	IDR Enabled False True	DR Number 0 2					
0 64736 0 647	39 🕕 64745 🚺	64752 🕕 6475	8 🕕 64762	0 64764 🚺 641	765 🕕 64763	0 64759 0 64	761 🕕 64760	0 64766 🕕	64768 🕕	64770

Use the Configure view to perform the following tasks:

- Creating (adding) coherency groups for MEDITECH hosts
- Editing coherency groups
- Removing coherency groups
- Adding storage arrays
- Editing storage arrays
- Removing storage arrays
- Adding storage devices
- Editing storage devices
- Removing storage devices
- Adding XMS devices
- Editing XMS devices
- Removing XMS devices
- Adding vCenter Servers
- Editing vCenter Servers
- Removing vCenter Servers

Configuration tasks on page 47 provides information about how to perform the tasks.

Selecting a NetWorker server

Select a NetWorker server to perform recoveries, and view the backup and recover jobs in the Monitor view.

Procedure

1. Click the NetWorker server icon in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.

The Change NetWorker Server dialog box appears.

Figure 9 Select the NetWorker server

Change NetWorker Server
NetWorker Servers
nmmdb82
 ∐pdate Server List
Server: nmmdb82
<u> </u>

- 2. Perform one of the following tasks to specify the NetWorker server:
 - Specify the NetWorker server in the Server field.
 - Click Update Server List.

The process takes a few minutes to update the **NetWorker Servers** list.

Select the relevant server from the **NetWorker Servers** list.

3. Click OK.

After you finish

You can view the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backup jobs, which you or another user scheduled on the selected NetWorker server, in the Monitor view. Monitor view on page 30 provides more information.

You can view the segments that the selected NetWorker server backed up in the Recover view. Recover view on page 30 provides more information.

Recover view

Use the Recover view to perform the following tasks:

- Defining a time range to browse the backup segments.
- Selecting a version of the backup segment that you want to recover.
- Selecting a target destination to recover the selected segment.
- Performing the ISB data recovery.

Note

You must manually recover the IDR data. Recovering IDR data on page 75 provides information about how to recover the IDR data.

Figure 10 Recover view

Browse time: 3/10/2014 8:15:53 PM 🎆								
>								
N								
>								
G 64005 G 64006								

You can view the segments that the selected NetWorker server backed up. You can change the server, also to which you or another user backed up the segments. Selecting a NetWorker server on page 29 provides information about how to change the server.

Monitor view

Use the Monitor view to view the progress of backup and recover jobs.

The job summary includes the unique backup or recover ID, MEDITECH segment names, hostnames, and the start and end times of a job. The "Job Details" section

provides attributes and values of each job. The **Monitor** page updates the job summary every 30 seconds.

Figure 11 Monitor view

8		NetWorker Module for MEDITECH							
<u>F</u> ile <u>H</u> elp									
NetWorker sei	ver: nmmdb8	32 🧾		Client: N	IMMDB82				
Configure Job Summary									
	Job ID Type Nam		Name		Proxy	Start Time		End Time	
Recover	0 64006	save job	NMMe	di Configurat	rat nmmdb82	3/10/201	4 3	3/10/2014	
S Monitor	Monitor 0 64005 save job NMMD		B81 E nmmdb82		3/10/2014		3/10/2014		
	Job Details								
	Attribute			Value					
							64005	0 64006	

You can view the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backup and recover jobs that were performed on the selected NetWorker server. You can change the server to monitor the corresponding NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backup and recover jobs. Selecting a NetWorker server on page 29 provides information about how to change the server.

The job status icon shows you the status of the job. The job status icons appear to the left of the job IDs and at the bottom of the window.

Log files

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH logs the interface actions and the error messages in the following files:

• nsrmedisv.raw

This log file enables you to review the backup information. The default location of the nsrmedisv.raw log file is C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr \applogs.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH retains the latest five log files only.

If you want the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to retain more than five log files, create the NSR_MAXLOGVERS environment variable with a necessary value. If you specify a value n, the total number of log files in the C:\Program Files \EMC NetWorker\nsr\applogs folder is n+1. The default value for the NSR_MAXLOGVERS variable is 4. You must restart the host for the change to be effective from the next backup.

If you want the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to retain multiple logs in a single file, create the *NSR_MAXLOGSIZE* environment variable with a necessary value in terms of megabytes. The default value is 1 MB. After the size of the log file exceeds the limit that you have set, the subsequent backup creates another log file. However, you can reset the *NSR_MAXLOGSIZE* environment variable

before performing backups. You must restart the host for the change to be effective from the next backup.

In the case of a distributed proxy host environment, the nsrmedisv.raw file on the primary proxy host provides consolidated and complete summary of the primary and secondary proxy hosts. The nsrmedisv.raw file on a secondary proxy host provides information about only the segment failures that relate to the save jobs of the secondary proxy host.

• nsrmedirc.raw

This log file enables you to review the recovery information. The default location of the nsrmedirc.raw log file is C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr \applogs.

• nwmedi.log

This log file enables you to review the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI events. The default location of the nwmedi.log file is C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr\applogs.

There is no limitation on the size of the file. You can delete the file if the file does not contain unresolved error messages.

You can set the log level by specifying the following command in the **Backup** command field of the **NetWorker Client Properties** dialog box:

nsrmedisv -D <log level>

You can set the value of *<log_level>* to 0 through 10 depending on the amount of logging that you need and the type of the storage system that you use.

The default value is 0.

CHAPTER 4

Configuration

This chapter includes the following sections:

•	Configuration prerequisites	.34
•	Configuration prerequisites for a distributed proxy host environment	.44
•	Configuring backups and recoveries	.45

Configuration prerequisites

Configure third-party software according to your requirements. Refer to each product's documentation for information about how to configure the software.

Ensure that you meet the requirements in the following sections before you configure the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backups and recoveries.

General requirements

Ensure that you meet the following general requirements to perform backups:

- You configured the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host as a client on the NetWorker server.
- As a system user of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host, you are in the NSR Application Administrators group on the NetWorker server.
- In the NMC, set the following privileges for the system user on the specified host:
 - Back up local data
 - Monitor NetWorker
 - Operate devices and jukeboxes
 - Operate NetWorker
 - Recover local data

The Application Administrators group typically has these privileges. So, you can add the system users to the Application Administrators group.

Note

You can add administrator users to the Application Administrators group if you want to manually perform the operations. Also, you can create an NSR lockbox for the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host by using the NetWorker Administration GUI to ensure that the backups and recoveries succeed regardless of the user type—system or administrator. The *NetWorker Administration Guide* provides information about how to create a lockbox.

- When you specify application information variables in the **Application information** field in the **Client Properties** dialog box of NMC, consider the following steps:
 - Include the = symbol between an application information variable name and the value of the variable.
 - Specify each variable on a separate line.
 - Specify the application information variable in uppercase. Otherwise, the backups fail.

VNX configuration requirements

Ensure that you meet the following VNX requirements to perform backups.

VNX general requirements

You created the security file on the proxy host as the Windows SYSTEM user to perform backups by using the NMC:

1. Create a user account, for example, backup or nmmedi on VNX to perform backups.

- 2. Download the PSEXEC.exe file from the Microsoft website.
- 3. In the path environment variable, specify the path to the ${\tt PSEXEC.exe}$ file.
- 4. Run the following command from the command prompt:

PSEXEC -i -s -d CMD

The command starts the SYSTEM command prompt.

Note

If the PSEXEC command does not start the SYSTEM command prompt, run the PSEXEC command from Windows Start > Run....

5. Run the following command to verify whether the command prompt belongs to the SYSTEM user account:

WHOAMI/USER

6. Run the following command in the SYSTEM command prompt to set the global account for all users on the system:

```
naviseccli -User <username> -Password <password> -Scope 0 -
Addusersecurity
```

Use the username and the password of the account that you created on VNX in step 1.

The command creates the security file.

To set credentials for a specific VNX storage array, run the following command:

naviseccli -User <username> -Password <password> -Scope 0 -Addusersecurity -Address <VNX_IP_address>

7. Run the following command to verify whether you created the security file:

naviseccli -Address <VNX_IP_address> getagent

The VNX information appears which indicates that the procedure has created the security file.

Note

You must create the security file as the administrator user to perform backups by using the CLI.

VNX CLONE requirements

- You created a storage group for the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host.
- You created a clone group for each MEDITECH source LUN (segment) and added at least one clone LUN to it.
- You exposed the target LUN to the proxy host.
- [Optional] You specified the following application information variables in the Application information field in the Client Properties dialog box of the NMC:
 - EMCCLAR_MAX_CLONE=<Number>

where, <Number> is a value 32 through 64 depending on the model of VNX. The default value is 32.

If you specify a value that is less than 32, the value defaults to 32.

If you specify a value that is greater than 64, the value defaults to 64.

The EMCCLAR_MAX_CLONE variable enables you to limit the number of LUNs that you can include in a snapshot.

FRAME_IP=<VNX_IP_address>

If you configured multiple VNX arrays in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI, set the FRAME_IP application information variable with the VNX IP address that points to the correct VNX array for successful backups.

VNX-SNAP requirements

- You copied the snapcli.exe file from C:\Program Files (x86)\EMC \Unisphere Snapcli to C:\Program Files (x86)\EMC\Navisphere CLI.
- You created one consistency group for all MEDITECH source LUNs.
- You manually created only one Snapshot Mount Point (SMP) for each MEDITECH segment or source LUN, assigned the SMP to the proxy storage group, and rebooted the host.
- You enabled in-band commands from the proxy host to attach snapshots to the mount host.
- [Optional] You made the SMP visible and accessible from the proxy host.
- [Optional] You specified the following application information variables in the Application information field in the Client Properties dialog box of the NMC:
 - EMCCLAR_SNAP_SUBTYPE=VNX-SNAP

The EMCCLAR_SNAP_SUBTYPE variable indicates the type of the snapshot that you use to perform backups.

Note

To perform ISBs by using the VNX-SNAP technology, you must specify this application information variable.

FRAME IP=<VNX IP address>

If you configured multiple VNX arrays in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI, set the FRAME_IP application information variable with the VNX IP address that points to the correct VNX array for successful backups.

Unity configuration requirements

Ensure that you meet the following Unity requirements to perform backups:

 You set the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host as the snapshot access host for all source LUNs, and ensure that all the source LUNs have only one snapshot access.

The Unity GUI provides an option to create a snapshot for a LUN and associate the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host to it.

If the Unity GUI does not provide the option, run the following command:

uemcli -d <Unity_IP_address> -u <Username> -p <Password> /stor/ prov/luns/lun -id <Source_LUN_ID> set -snapHosts <NetWorker_Module_for_MEDITECH_Proxy_Host_ID>

 You configured Unisphere CLI: In the Configure Optional Settings panel of UEMCLI:

1. Select the Unisphere CLI in the Environment path option.
By default, the option is selected.

- 2. Select the **Low (The certificate will not be verified)** option to avoid runtime backup errors.
- You created the security file on the proxy host as the Windows SYSTEM user to perform backups by using the NMC:
 - 1. Create a user account, for example, backup or nmmedi on Unity to perform backups.
 - 2. Download the PSEXEC.exe file from the Microsoft website.
 - 3. In the path environment variable, specify the path to the <code>PSEXEC.exe</code> file.
 - 4. Run the following command from the command prompt:

PSEXEC -i -s -d CMD

The command starts the SYSTEM command prompt.

Note

If the PSEXEC command does not start the SYSTEM command prompt, run the PSEXEC command from Windows Start > Run....

5. Run the following command to verify whether the command prompt belongs to the SYSTEM user account:

WHOAMI/USER

6. In the SYSTEM command prompt, run the following command:

uemcli -d <Unity_IP_Address> -u <Unity_Username> -p
<Unity Password> -saveUser

Use the username and the password of the account that you created on Unity in step 1.

The command creates the security file.

7. Run the following command to verify whether you created the security file:

uemcli -d <Unity_IP_Address> /prot/snap show

The Unity information appears which indicates that the procedure has created the security file. If an error appears, UEMCLI is not correctly set up.

Note

You must create the security file as the administrator user to perform backups by using the CLI.

- You specified the Windows registry setting for the UEMCLI system path. To ensure that you have a valid path to the Unisphere installation location, manually add a registry entry for NetWorker:
 - 1. From the command prompt or the Windows shell prompt, type regedit.
 - **2.** Go to the HKEY LOCAL MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Legato\NetWorker folder.
 - 3. Right-click and select **New > String Value**.
 - 4. Type UEMCLI_directory as the value, and press Enter on the keyboard.
 - 5. Right-click UEMCLI directory, and select Modify.

37

6. In the **Value data** field, type the full path to the Unisphere CLI installation location.

Symmetrix VMAX configuration requirements

Ensure that you meet the following Symmetrix VMAX requirements to perform backups:

- You have at least one CLONE, VPSNAP, or SNAPVX LUN per MEDITECH segment.
- You masked the CLONE, the VPSNAP, or the SNAPVX LUNs on the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host.
- When you use the CLONE, the VPSNAP, or the SNAPVX technology, you performed one of the following steps:
 - You created separate <name>.res files (files with device pairing information), typically in the C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr\res\ folder for ISB and IDR backups and specified the following application information variable in the Application information field in the Client Properties dialog box of the NMC:

```
SYMM_SNAP_POOL=<Path_to_the_Corresponding_<name>.res_File>
```

This is the recommended step.

 You created the C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr\res \<name>.res file.

The file must contain the source and target devices from Symmetrix VMAX in the Symmetrix ID:<Source_Device_ID><Target_Device_ID> format, where the target device is either a clone or a vpsnap. For example, 000192601677:0B79 0B78.

For the IDR In-Frame backups, ensure that the number of target thin devices in the <name>.res file is equal to IDR number + 1. The ISB backups use the extra LUN. The ISB backups fail if you used all the thin devices in the <name>.res for the IDR In-Frame backups.

NOTICE

In a distributed proxy host environment, when you use the SNAPVX technology, you must create the <name>.res file. When you use a single proxy host and the SNAPVX technology, it is optional to create the <name>.res file.

- When you use the SNAPVX technology, you performed the following steps:
 - 1. You created the NsrSnspSG storage group on the Symmetrix VMAX array by running the following command:

symsg -sid <Symmetrix_ID> create NsrSnapSG

symsg -sid 638 create NsrSnapSG

2. You added the target LUNs to the **NsrSnapSG** storage group by running the following command:

symsg -sid <Symmetrix_ID> -sg NsrSnapSG add dev <device_ID>

symsg -sid 638 -sg NsrSnapSG add dev 031EA

- You specified one of the following application information variables in the Application information field in the Client Properties dialog box of the NMC:
 - SYMM_SNAP_TECH=CLONE for clone

- SYMM SNAP_TECH=VPSNAP for VPSNAP
- SYMM_SNAP_TECH=SNAPVX for SNAPVX

Note

To perform the IDR In-Frame backups, you must specify the SYMM_SNAP_TECH=VPSNAP or SNAPVX application information variable.

The SYMM_SNAP_TECH variable indicates the type of the snapshot that you use to perform backups.

Dell Storage SC Series configuration requirements

Ensure that you meet the following Dell Storage SC Series requirements to perform backups:

- You zoned or masked the physical proxy server to the Dell Storage SC Series array by using an HBA card.
- You created a server for the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host, and then selected the HBA card by using the Dell Storage Manager (DSM) GUI in the storage center.

In the case of multiple storage centers, you created a server for each storage center with the same name, and zoned or masked it to the physical proxy server.

- You configured a snapshot profile by using the DSM GUI:
 - 1. Open DSM, and then select a storage center.
 - 2. Create a snapshot profile.
 - 3. Add all source volumes to the snapshot profile.
 - 4. Select Consistent as the snapshot creation method.
 - 5. Add a rule, where schedule is once and date is far in the future, for example, 2030.

Note

If source volumes are present in multiple storage centers, you must create multiple snapshot profiles.

 You specified the following application information variables in the Application information field in the Client Properties dialog box of the NMC: NSR COMPELLENT=<DSM/

```
DC>;<Storage_Center>:<Snapshot_Profile>,<Storage_Center>:<Snapshot_
Profile>,[...]
```

```
For example,
NSR_COMPELLENT=10.204.63.196;CMPL1:backup1,CMPL2:backup2
```

Note

In DSM, proxy server names and snapshot profile names are case-sensitive, and must be unique.

(Optional) You configured SSL peer-verification:

1. Add root CA certificate to trusted root certificate.

The root certificate can be self-signed.

- 2. Import the certificate:
 - a. Open a web browser.
 - b. In the address bar of the web browser, type the following URL, and then press Enter on the keyboard. https://<DSM IP address:Port_number>

For example, https://10.204.63.196:3033

- c. Click Certificate, which is beside the address bar.
- d. In the dialog box that appears, click View certificate.
- e. In the Certificate dialog box, on the Details tab page, click Copy to File.
- f. On the Welcome to the Certificate Export Wizard page, click Next.
- g. On the Export to the File Format page, select Base-64 encoded X. 509(.CER), and then click Next.
- h. On the File to Export page, click Browse, and then go to C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker|nsr\res\.
- i. In the File name field, type cert, and then click Save.
- j. On the File to Export page, click Next.
- k. On the **Completing the Certificate Export Wizard** page, click **Finish**.
- I. In the message box that appears, click **OK**.

RecoverPoint configuration requirements

Ensure that you meet the following RecoverPoint requirements to perform backups:

- You have the **integration** role privileges on RecoverPoint 4.1, 4.1.1, or 4.1.2.
- You have the **admin** role privileges on RecoverPoint 4.4, 4.4.1, or 5.0.
- You created a coherency group that consists of all the LUNs that you want to back up.
- You use one consistency group per RecoverPoint appliance and add all the LUNs to this consistency group for optimal performance of backups.
- You updated the Windows hosts file with Recover Point IP address.
- [Optional] You specified the following application information variables in the **Application information** field in the **Client Properties** dialog box of the NMC if either backups failed or enable image access took a lot of time:
 - NSR_NMMEDI_RP_ENABLE_IMAGE_ACCESS_RETRY_COUNT=<value>
 This application information variable indicates the number of times the
 NetWorker Module for MEDITECH must try to check whether the
 RecoverPoint image is enabled.

The default value is 5.

NSR_NMMEDI_RP_ENABLE_IMAGE_ACCESS_RETRY_GAP=<value in seconds> This application information variable indicates the time interval that the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH must maintain between two retries to check whether the Recoverpoint image is enabled.

The default value is 1.

NSR_NMMEDI_RP_RETRIES=<value>
 This application information variable indicates the number of times the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH must try to check whether the

RecoverPoint image is present on the copy, from where rollover is performed during an ISB.

This application information variable is useful in case of the XtremIO with RecoverPoint workflow because shipping a bookmark can take time that depends on the snap replication interval.

The default value is 50.

• For RecoverPoint consistency groups in a Snap-Based Replication (SBR) configuration, to ensure better performance of a backup, the shipping time of a snapshot must be less.

On the **Link Policy** tab of the Unisphere for RecoverPoint GUI, you can set the shipping time.

• The image access (consistency group) is not enabled. If the image access is manually enabled, performing an ISB aborts any operation that is in progress.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports the following RecoverPoint configurations:

- Continuous Data Protection (CDP)
- Continuous Remote Replication (CRR)
- Concurrent Local and Remote (CLR) data protection
- Snap-Based Replication (SBR) in case of XtremIO with RecoverPoint

NOTICE

To configure VNX, Symmetrix VMAX, Unity, VPLEX, or XtremIO to use with RecoverPoint to perform the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backups and recoveries, refer to the relevant product documentation.

XtremIO configuration requirements

Ensure that you meet the following XtremIO requirements to perform backups:

Proxy on a physical host

Proxy on a physical host supports the following workflows:

- Traditional or conventional
- Snapshot and reassign

Traditional workflow requirements

If you installed the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy on a physical host, for the traditional workflow, you configured one initiator per initiator group for the proxy host.

This configuration enables the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to map target LUNs during ISBs. The *XtremIO administration guide* provides information about how to configure an initiator group for a physical proxy host.

Snapshot and reassign workflow requirements

If you installed the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy on a physical host, for the snapshot and reassign workflow, you performed the following steps:

Procedure

1. Identify the source volumes on the XMS device.

41

- 2. Create one or multiple consistency groups according to your requirement.
- 3. Add the source volumes to the consistency group.
- 4. Take a snapshot of the consistency group, and specify a snapshot set tag for the snapshot.

You can use the snapshot set tag as the target.

- 5. Configure one initiator per initiator group for the proxy host.
- 6. Map the snapshot volumes to the initiator group.
- 7. Specify the cluster, consistency group, and snapshot information as an application information variable in the following format:

SNAPSHOT_REASSIGN=<XMS_IP_address>:<Cluster_Name_1>:<Consistency
_Group_Name_1>:<Target_Snapshot_Set_Tag_1>,
<XMS_IP_address>:<Cluster_Name_2>:<Consistency_Group_Name_2>:<Ta</pre>

rget_Snapshot_Set_Tag_2>, [...] For example,

SNAPSHOT REASSIGN=10.63.28.51:XIO CLUST1:NPR SEGS CG:NMMEDI Tag

Note

You can get the snapshot set tag value from the **CONFIGURATION** > **Snapshot Sets** > **Tags** column in the XtremIO GUI.

Ensure that the user-defined cluster names, consistency group names, and snapshot set tags do not contain a colon (:) within the names.

Proxy on a virtual machine

Proxy on a virtual machine supports only the snapshot and reassign workflow. If you installed the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy on a virtual machine, for the snapshot and reassign workflow, you performed the following steps:

Procedure

- 1. Identify the source volumes on the XMS device.
- 2. Create one or multiple consistency groups according to your requirement.
- 3. Add the source volumes to the consistency group.
- 4. Take a snapshot of the consistency group, and specify a snapshot set tag for the snapshot.

You can use the snapshot set tag as the target.

- 5. Configure one initiator per initiator group on the ESXi server, on which the proxy virtual machine is present.
- 6. Map the snapshot volumes to the initiator group.
- 7. Create an RDM of the snapshot volumes to the proxy virtual machine.
- 8. Specify the cluster, consistency group, and snapshot information as an application information variable in the following format:

SNAPSHOT_REASSIGN=<XMS_IP_address>:<Cluster_Name_1>:<Consistency _Group_Name_1>:<Target_Snapshot_Set_Tag_1>, <XMS_IP_address>:<Cluster_Name_2>:<Consistency_Group_Name_2>:<Ta rget_Snapshot_Set_Tag_2>, [...]

For example, SNAPSHOT REASSIGN=10.63.28.51:XIO CLUST1:NPR SEGS CG:NMMEDI Tag

Note

You can get the snapshot set tag value from the **CONFIGURATION** > **Snapshot Sets** > **Tags** column in the XtremIO GUI.

Ensure that the user-defined cluster names, consistency group names, and snapshot set tags do not contain a colon (:) within the names.

RecoverPoint for virtual machine configuration requirements

Ensure that you meet the following RecoverPoint for virtual machine requirements to perform backups:

- You have the admin role privileges on RecoverPoint 5.0 or 5.0.1.
- You updated the Windows hosts file with Recover Point IP address.
- You added all file servers to RecoverPoint for virtual machine consistency group.
- The names of virtual machines in the consistency group do not contain either ".shadow" or "RP".
- You created an RDM of production LUNs to file server virtual machines.
- The source data is present on the RDM disk on the source virtual machine, and the disk is not in the shared mode.
- You installed the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH on the proxy virtual machine.
- The proxy virtual machine is on the vCenter Server that contains replica virtual machine disks of consistency groups.
- The proxy virtual machine name is unique across all vCenter Servers in the configuration.
- You created a new vCenter Server user with admin privileges.
- You added SCSI controllers 1, 2, and 3 to the proxy virtual machine:
 - 1. Log in to vCenter Server.
 - 2. Identify the proxy virtual machine.
 - 3. Add an SCSI controller to the proxy virtual machine by adding a hard disk.

Note

The SCSI controller must be unused. The SCSI controller 0 is already present on the proxy virtual machine.

- 4. Repeat step 3 till four SCSI controllers are present on the proxy virtual machine.
- 5. If the proxy virtual machine is shut down, start it.
- 6. Remove the hard disks that you added in step 3 and 4.

Each SCSI controller can service up to 15 LUNs for a rollover.

- You specified the following application information variables in the **Application information** field in the **Client Properties** dialog box of the NMC:
 - NSR_RP4VM_NMMEDI_PROXYVM_NAME=<Proxy_virtual_machine_name>

This application information variable indicates the name of the proxy server on the vCenter Server. Use this application information variable to attach and detach the target LUNs, and perform rollver.

- NSR_RP4VM_COPY=<ROLE_LOCALCOPY | ROLE_REMOTECOPY>
 This application information variable indicates either the local copy or the remote copy that you want to back up. You must specify this variable when you use a CLR setup.
- (Optional) You specified the following application information variables in the **Application information** field in the **Client Properties** dialog box of the NMC if either backups failed or enable image access took a lot of time:
 - NSR_NMMEDI_RP_ENABLE_IMAGE_ACCESS_RETRY_COUNT=<Minutes> This application information variable indicates minutes that the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH must wait to check whether the RecoverPoint image is enabled. The default value is 30.
 - NSR_RP4VM_NMMEDI_WAIT_TIME_SECONDS=<Seconds> This application information variable indicates seconds that the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH must wait for RecoverPoint or vCenter Server to respond. Use this variable only when you notice issues with the default value.
 - NSR_RP4VM_NMMEDI_WAIT_COUNT=<Number_of_retries_before_failing> This application information variable indicates the number of times the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH must try to wait for RecoverPoint or vCenter Server to respond. Use this variable only when you notice issues with the default value.
- You disabled the auto-mount feature.
- You included maximum 50 LUNs in a backup.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports the following RecoverPoint for virtual machine configurations:

- Continuous Data Protection (CDP)
- Continuous Remote Replication (CRR)
- Concurrent Local and Remote (CLR) data protection

RecoverPoint for virtual machine limitations

RecoverPoint for virtual machine has the following limitations:

- NetWorker Module for MEDITECH support for RecoverPoint for virtual machine does not support a VMDK disk on the source virtual machine.
- NetWorker Module for MEDITECH support for RecoverPoint for virtual machine does not support virtual RDM.
- In the RecoverPoint for virtual machine setup, if you use pre-created copy virtual machines to replicate file server virtual machines, the names of the pre-created virtual machines must not contain a colon (:).

Configuration prerequisites for a distributed proxy host environment

Before you configure the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backups and recoveries in a distributed proxy host environment, ensure that you meet the following requirements: • You installed the NetWorker client and extended client, and the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH on all the proxy hosts.

Note

It is recommended that you use maximum 10 proxy hosts.

- You equally distributed the target LUNs to the required proxy hosts when you use VNX, Unity, XtremIO, and Symmetrix VMAX.
- You configured only one initiator per initiator group for each proxy host when you use XtremIO.

The *XtremIO administration guide* provides information about how to configure an initiator group for a physical proxy host.

- When you use virtual machines as proxy hosts, you provided sufficient CPU, memory, and network resources for maximum performance of backups and recoveries.
- You configured every proxy host in a distributed proxy host environment by using NMC, and you added only the primary proxy host to the group. The *NetWorker Administration Guide* provides more information about configuring client resources.
- To perform backups on secondary proxy hosts, you configured remote users on the primary proxy host, that is, provided remote access to users of secondary proxy hosts according to your requirement. To provide remote access to users:
 - 1. Open the NetWorker Administration GUI.
 - 2. Open the Client Properties dialog box of the primary proxy host.
 - 3. On the Globals (2 of 2) tab, in the Remote access field, type the usernames and the secondary proxy hostnames, to which you want to provide remote access, each in a line in the following format: SYSTEM@<secondary_proxy_hostname>

The *NetWorker Administration Guide* provides more information about configuring client resources by using the **Client Properties** dialog box.

- You set the values of the server parallelism, the client parallelism, and the action parallelism in the NMC to maximum.
- You specified the following application information variables in the Application information field in the Client Properties dialog box of the NMC: NSR_NMMEDI_PROXY_LIST=<secondary_proxy_host_1>,
 <secondary proxy host 2>, ...<secondary proxy host n>.

The other general and array-specific configuration settings in a distributed proxy host environment are the same as the general and array-specific configuration settings that Configuration prerequisites on page 34 describes.

Configuring backups and recoveries

Before you configure the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH, install and configure the MEDITECH host and the storage arrays and devices. The following sections describe the configuration tasks.

Configuration roadmap

Define the MEDITECH MBI server and the MEDITECH file servers that you want to back up, and identify the storage systems that you want to use to back up the MEDITECH MBI servers.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH saves the configuration information of storage arrays, storage devices, and coherency groups in the

<product_installation_folder>\nsr\res\mediconfig.xml file on the
NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host. Performing a backup backs up the
mediconfig.xml configuration file. If the configuration file is deleted, and you need
it, you can recover the backed up configuration file. Backing up the configuration file
on page 68 and Recovering the configuration file on page 87 provide information
about how to back up and recover the configuration file.

Note

To edit the ${\tt mediconfig.xml}$ file, you must use only the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.

Coherency groups

Coherency groups are logical groupings of the MEDITECH hosts that you back up at the same time. NetWorker uses the coherency groups for the scheduled backups.

Coherency groups enable you to back up multiple segments of multiple MEDITECH hosts at the same time. For example, if you want to back up all administrative data at the same time, you must create a coherency group that contains all the MEDITECH MBI servers that manage the MEDITECH file servers, which contain the administrative data.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH creates point-in-time snapshots for all the MEDITECH segments in a coherency group, and backs up the snapshots to a secondary device such as, a tape, in case of an ISB.

Storage arrays	
	You must configure the storage arrays to enable the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to take snapshots of the array LUNs. The supported storage arrays are VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, and Dell Storage SC Series.
Storage devices	
	You must configure the storage device, which is a RecoverPoint appliance, to enable the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to communicate with it to perform backups.
XMS devices	
	You must configure the XMS device, which is a management system of an XtremIO array, to enable the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to communicate with the XtremIO array to perform backups.
vCenter Servers	
	You must configure the vCenter Server to enable the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to communicate with it to perform backups.

Configuration tasks

Configuring the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to perform backups and recoveries includes the following tasks:

- Creating a coherency group to identify the MEDITECH hosts that participate in the scheduled backups
- Identifying and configuring the VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, XtremIO, or Dell Storage SC Series storage arrays that the MEDITECH hosts use to store the source data
- Identifying and configuring the RecoverPoint appliance storage devices that the MEDITECH hosts use to store the source data

Adding coherency groups

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, right-click Coherency Groups, and then select Add Group.

The Add Coherency Group dialog box appears.

Figure 12 Add coherency group

÷	Add	Coherency G	roup		x
Coherency Group Common F Group Name: MBI User Name: MBI Password: Confirm Password:	Parameters	SAN Type:	RecoverP	oint 🗸	
MEDITECH Hosts MBI Host Name: MBI Port: 2987	7 Clear	•	Host Name	Port Number	
Disaster Recovery Options Create Integrated Disastr Number of IDR Images	er Recovery Images to Create:	2			
			OK	Cancel	Help

- 4. Under Coherency Group common parameters, specify the following fields:
 - Group Name: Type a name for the group of MEDITECH hosts that you want to back up. The group name can contain up to 64 alphanumeric characters, spaces, underscores (_), and hyphens (-).
 - MBI User Name: Type the username of the MBI server.
 - MBI Password: Type the password of the MBI server.
 - Confirm password: Re-type the password of the MBI server.
 - SAN Type: Select the storage array or device to use for the backup.

The default value is RecoverPoint.

Note

All the hosts in the coherency group must have the same MBI server account username and password, and LUNs from same type of storage array because SAN type is a common selection for the whole coherency group.

Perform and repeat the following steps to add the MEDITECH hosts (MBI servers) to the coherency group:

a. Specify the following fields under MEDITECH Hosts:

• **MBI Host Name**: Type the name of the MBI server. To retype the host name, click **Clear** to clear the host name.

- MBI Port: Type the port number that you use to communicate with the MBI server. The default port number is 2987.
- b. Click the right arrow to add the host to the coherency group.

The hostname and the port number appear in the table.

- c. To modify the information of a host:
 - a. Select the hostname in the table and click the left arrow.
 - b. Edit the hostname and the port number in the **MBI Host Name** and the **MBI Port** fields.
 - c. Click the right arrow to add the host to the coherency group.

The hostname and the port number appear in the table.

d. Click Verify.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH performs the following tasks:

- a. Validates the user credentials.
- b. Checks whether the MBI server works for all the MEDITECH file servers.
- c. Writes the information to the $\texttt{nsr}applogs\nwmedi.log$ file.
- d. Displays a validation message that states whether the specified user credentials are correct.
- e. Displays the status of the hosts.

Click OK.

- e. Click **Remove** below the table to remove a host from the coherency group.
- 6. Under Disaster Recovery Options:
 - a. Select **Create Integrated Disaster Recovery Images** to back up the IDR images.
 - b. In the **Number of IDR images to create** field, specify the number of IDR images to be created for the SAN type that you have selected.
 - VNX: Specify a value 2 through 48. The default value is 2.
 - Unity: Specify a value 2 through 48. The default value is 2.
 - VMAX: Specify a value 2 through 32. The default value is 2.
 - XtremIO: Specify a value 2 through 120. The default value is 2.
 - Dell Storage SC Series: Specify a value 2 through 120. The default value is 2.
 - RecoverPoint and RP4VM: The field does not apply. It is disabled.

Note

You must configure RecoverPoint CDP, CRR, CLR, and SBR by using either the Unisphere for RecoverPoint GUI or the RecoverPoint CLI before you perform backups.

7. Click OK.

Editing coherency groups

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **Coherency Groups**, right-click the coherency group that you want to edit, and then select **Edit Group**.

The Edit Coherency Group dialog box appears.

Figure	13	Edit	coher	rency	group
--------	----	------	-------	-------	-------

સં	Edit	t Coherency G	roup		×
- Coherency Group com Group Name: MBI User Name: MBI Password: Confirm password:	mon parameters medi1 ISB •••	SAN Type:	VNX	v	
MEDITECH Hosts MBI Host Name: MBI Port:	2987 Clear	•	Host Name akash3 nag1	Port Number 2987 2987	
Disaster Recovery Opt	ions Disaster Recovery Images nages to create:	2 🔥	ŪK		Help

4. Select a host (MBI server) from the table and click the left arrow.

The information about the selected host appears in the **MBI Host Name** and **MBI Port** fields.

- 5. Edit the values in the fields, as necessary.
- 6. Click the right arrow to add the modified host to the coherency group.

The hostname and the port number appear in the table.

- 7. Repeat step 3 through step 5 to modify the other hosts in the table.
- 8. Click Verify.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH performs the following tasks:

a. Validates the user credentials.

- b. Checks whether the MBI server works for all the MEDITECH file servers.
- c. Writes the information to the nsr\applogs\nwmedi.log file.
- d. Displays a validation message that states whether the specified user credentials are correct.
- e. Displays the status of the hosts.

Click OK.

9. Click OK.

Removing coherency groups

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **Coherency Groups**, right-click the coherency group that you want to remove, and then select **Remove Group**.
- 4. In the Remove Coherency Group dialog box, click OK.

Adding storage arrays

The storage arrays include VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, and Dell Storage SC Series, with which the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH communicates to store the MEDITECH data.

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, right-click Storage Arrays, and then select Add Array.

The Add Storage Array dialog box appears.

Figure 14 Add VNX/Unity storage array

Add Storage Array
EMC VNX/Unity EMC VMAX Dell Storage SC Series
VNX Unity
⊻enify
<u>D</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

4. To add VNX and Unity arrays, perform the following steps:

Note

Ensure that you have specified the NetWorker server in the **NetWorker Module for MEDITECH** window. Selecting a NetWorker server on page 29 provides information.

- a. In Add Storage Array dialog box, click the EMC VNX/Unity tab.
- b. To add a VNX array:
 - a. Under Storage Type, select VNX.
 - b. In the VNX/Unity IP Address field, type the IP address of the VNX array.
 - c. Click Verify to validate the IP address and the user credentials.
- c. To add an Unity array:
 - a. Under Storage Type, select Unity.
 - b. In the VNX/Unity IP Address field, type the IP address of the Unity array.
 - c. Click Verify to validate the IP address and the user credentials.
- d. Click OK.
- 5. To add a Symmetrix VMAX array, perform the following steps:
 - a. In Add Storage Array dialog box, click the EMC VMAX tab.

Figure 15 Add Symmetrix VMAX storage array

Add Storage Array
EMC VNX/Unity EMC VMAX Dell Storage SC Series
Serial Number:
<u>Q</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

b. Perform one of the following tasks:

- In the Serial Number field, type the ID of the Symmetrix VMAX array.
- Click **Discover** to select the required Symmetrix VMAX array. The process requires a few minutes to complete.

c. Click OK.

6. To add a Dell Storage SC Series array, perform the following steps:

a. In Add Storage Array dialog box, click the Dell Storage SC Series tab.

 Add Storage Array	x
EMC VNX/Unity EMC VMAX Dell Storage SC Series DSM/DC Server:	
Verify host's SSL certificate Verify	
QK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Figure 16 Add Dell Storage SC Series storage array

- b. Specify the following fields:
 - DSM/DC Server: Type the host name or IP address of the DSM/DC server. If you use an SSL certificate, type the host name or IP address of the DSM/DC server that is specified in the SSL certificate.
 - **Port**: Type the port number of the DSM/DC server. The default port number is 3033.
 - Username: Type the username of the DSM/DC server.
 - **Password**: Type the password of the DSM/DC server.
 - Server: Type the name of the proxy server that was created by using the DSM GUI. The server name is case-sensitive. When you perform ISBs, the volumes in snapshots are mapped to the proxy server.
 - Verify host's SSL certificate: Select this option to peer-verify the SSL certificate.
- c. Click Verify to validate the specified values in the fields.
- d. Click OK.

Editing storage arrays

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **Storage Arrays**, right-click the array that you want to edit, and then select **Edit Array**.

The Edit Storage Array dialog box appears.

4. To edit the VNX and Unity arrays, perform the following steps:

a. In the Edit Storage Array dialog box, click the EMC VNX/Unity tab.

Figure 17 Edit VNX/Unity storage array

Edit Storage Array
EMC VNX/Unity EMC VMAX Dell Storage SC Series
VNX/Unity IP Address: 10.31.216.239
Storage Type
<u>V</u> erify
QK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

- b. Edit the values in the fields.
- c. Click Verify to validate the values.
- d. Click OK.
- 5. To edit the Symmetrix VMAX array, perform the following steps:
 - a. In the Edit Storage Array dialog box, click the EMC VMAX tab.

Figure 18 Edit Symmetrix VMAX storage array

Edit Storage Array	x
EMC VNX/Unity EMC VMAX Dell Storage SC Series	
Serial Number: 1000192604348	
QK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

- b. From the **Serial Number** list, select the serial number of the array that you want to use, and click **OK**.
- 6. To edit the Dell Storage SC Series array, perform the following steps:
 - a. In the Edit Storage Array dialog box, click the Dell Storage SC Series tab.

Edi	t Storage Array
	MAX Dell Storage SC Series
DSM/DC Server:	10.204.63.196
Port:	3033
Usemame:	Admin
Password:	•••••
Server:	DellEMC_Netwroker_test
Verify host's SSL cer	tificate Verify
<u>0</u>	K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

- b. Edit the values in the fields.
- c. Click Verify to validate the values.
- d. Click OK.

Removing storage arrays

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **Storage Arrays**, right-click the storage array that you want to remove, and then select **Remove Array**.
- 4. In the **Remove Storage Array** dialog box, click **OK**.

Adding storage devices

The storage device includes a RecoverPoint appliance with which the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH communicates to store the MEDITECH data.

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, right-click **Storage Devices**, and then select **Add Device**.

The Add Storage Device dialog box appears.

Figure 20 Add storage device

	Add Storage Device	x
Cluster ID: User Name:		
Password:	OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp	

- 4. Specify the following fields:
 - Cluster ID: Type either the name or the IP address of the RecoverPoint appliance.
 - User Name: Type the username to access the device.
 - Password: Type the password to access the device.
- 5. Click Verify to validate the values in the fields.
- 6. Click OK.

Editing storage devices

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **Storage Devices**, right-click the device that you want to edit, and then select **Edit Device**.

The Edit Storage Device dialog box appears.

Figure 21 Edit storage device

	Edit Storage Device	x
Cluster ID:	10.31.224.149	
User Name:	admin	
Password:	••••	
	Verify	
	OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp	

- 4. Edit the values in the fields, as necessary.
- 5. Click **Verify** to validate the values.
- 6. Click OK.

Removing storage devices

Procedure

1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.

- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **Storage Devices**, right-click the storage device that you want to remove, and then select **Remove Device**.
- 4. In the Remove Storage Device dialog box, click OK.

Adding XMS devices

The XMS device, which is a management system of an XtremIO array, enables the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH to communicate with the XtremIO array to perform backups.

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, right-click XMS Devices, and then select Add XMS.
 - The Add XMS Device dialog box appears.

Figure 22 Add XMS device

Ac	dd XMS Device				X
	-XMS Credentials				
	IP Address: 10	241.178.	206	-	
	Username: ad	min			
	_				
	Password:	•••••			
			CattleSater		
			Eet Initiator L	aroups	
	— Select Initiaor Gro	up			
	Cluster Name	Initiat	or Group		
	Xtrem2	ledme	:011		
	Xtrem2	ledme	:025		
	Xtrem2	ledmo	:159		
	Xtrem2	ledmo	:166		
	Xtrem2	ledma	193		
	Xtrem2	VPLE	X_ledmc083		
	Xtrem2	ledmo	:025		
	Xtrem2	ledmo	:026		
			- · · · · · · ·		
		. 1			
	0	К	<u> </u>	Help	

- 4. Specify the following fields:
 - IP Address: Type the IP address of the XMS device.
 - **Username**: Type the username that has the administrator role on the XMS device.
 - **Password**: Type the password of the XMS device.
- Click Get Initiator Groups to validate the XMS credentials and list the initiator groups.
- 6. From the **Select Initiator Group** list, select the relevant cluster name and initiator group that you configured on the proxy host.

Note

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports only one initiator per initiator group for the proxy host.

In a distributed proxy host environment, select all the relevant cluster names and initiator groups that you configured for the proxy hosts.

7. Click OK.

Editing XMS devices

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand XMS Devices, right-click the device that you want to edit, and then select Edit XMS.

The Edit XMS Device dialog box appears.

Figure 23 Edit XMS device

Edit XMS Device		×
XMS Credentials —		
IP Address: 10.24	1.178.206	
Username: Jadmir	ו	
Brownert Lane		
	Get Initiator Groups	
Select Initiaor Group) ———	
Cluster Name	Initiator Group	
Xtrem2	ledme011	
Xtrem2	ledme025	
Xtrem2	ledmc159	
Xtrem2	ledmc166	
Xtrem2	ledma193	
Xtrem2	VPLEX_ledmc083	
Xtrem2	ledmc025	
Xtrem2	ledmc026	T
· - ·	··· -·· ···· ··	
OK	Cancel Hel	

- 4. Edit the XMS credentials.
- Click Get Initiator Groups to validate the XMS credentials and list the initiator groups.
- 6. From the **Select Initiator Group** list, select the relevant cluster name and initiator group, to which the XtremIO array belongs.

Note

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports only one initiator per initiator group for the proxy host.

In a distributed proxy host environment, select all the relevant cluster names and initiator groups that you configured for the proxy hosts.

7. Click OK.

Removing XMS devices

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand XMS Devices, right-click the device that you want to remove, and then select Remove XMS.
- 4. In the Remove XMS Device dialog box, click OK.

Adding vCenter Servers

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH communicates with vCenter Servers to store the MEDITECH data.

Before you begin

Ensure that you added the storage device, that is, the RecoverPoint appliance that contains the vCenter Server that you want to add.

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click Configure.
- In the middle panel, right-click vCenter Servers, and then select Add vCenter Server.

The Add vCenter Server dialog box appears.

Figure 24 Add vCenter Server

	Add vCenter Server 📃 🗕 🗖 🗙
- Storage Devices -	
Cluster ID:	10.31.224.149 🗸
vCenter Server De	tails
Hostname:	
Username:	
Password:	
	Verify
	OK Cancel Help

- 4. Specify the following fields:
 - **Cluster ID**: From the list, select the cluster ID, that is either the name or the IP address of the RecoverPoint appliance that contains the vCenter Server that you want to add.

- Hostname: Type the hostname of the vCenter Server.
- User Name: Type the username to access the vCenter server.
- Password: Type the password to access the vCenter server.
- 5. Click **Verify** to validate the values in the fields.
- 6. Click OK.

Editing vCenter Servers

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click **Configure**.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **vCenter Servers**, right-click the vCenter Server that you want to edit, and then select **Edit vCenter Server**.

The Edit vCenter Server dialog box appears.

Figure 25 Edit vCenter Server

	Edit vCenter Server 📃 🗖 🗙
Storage Devices	
Cluster ID:	10.31.224.149
- vCenter Server De	tails
Hostname:	blrv071a133.lss.emc.com
Username:	administrator@lss.emc.com
Password:	••••
	Verify
	OK Cancel Help

- 4. Edit the values in the fields, as necessary.
- 5. Click **Verify** to validate the values.
- 6. Click OK.

Removing vCenter Servers

Procedure

- 1. Open the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.
- 2. In the left panel, click Configure.
- 3. In the middle panel, expand **vCenter Servers**, right-click the vCenter Server that you want to remove, and then select **Remove vCenter Server**.
- 4. In the Remove vCenter Server dialog box, click OK.

CHAPTER 5

Backups

This chapter includes the following sections:

•	Scheduling backups	62
•	Viewing the backups status and reports	.65
•	Backing up the configuration file	.68

Scheduling backups

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH software enables you to perform regular backups of MEDITECH segments. Use the NMC to configure and schedule backups.

The most reliable way to protect the MEDITECH data is to schedule backups of the MEDITECH hosts at regular intervals. You can configure scheduled backups to run at any time.

Scheduled backups save the following items from the NetWorker server:

- Data
- Client indexes

Scheduling the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backups is similar to scheduling the NetWorker file system backups. You must define groups, clients, policies, and schedules for the MEDITECH hosts. Always perform a full backup.

Use the following methods to back up the MEDITECH data:

- ISB: The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backs up the data to the NetWorker devices such as tapes, Data Domain, and disks.
- IDR: The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH retains the point-in-time snapshot on the storage array while indexing the snapshot details in the NetWorker database. You can use the snapshot information when you perform IDR recoveries.

ISB

Each backup of MEDITECH is a full backup of a MEDITECH data LUN. The ISB process saves the point-in-time images of MEDITECH data to a NetWorker device that is configured on a NetWorker storage node. According to the workflow and the array that you use, the ISB process resynchronizes the clone with the primary LUN or deletes the snapshots. The source and target LUNs must exist on the same type of array.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports ISBs by using the VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, Dell Storage SC Series, XtremIO, RecoverPoint, and RecoverPoint for virtual machine storage systems.

When you use RecoverPoint for virtual machine, the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports MEDITECH data also on arrays of other companies if MBF supports the arrays.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH uses the MEDITECH MBF utility to obtain a list of the source LUNs, and quiesce and unquiesce the MEDITECH databases. You can see the status of the operations in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH logs. If the quiesce operation fails, you must run the MBF reset command before you perform the next backup.

RecoverPoint creates bookmarks in the NMMedi_yyyymmddhhMMss_<GUID> format and stores the bookmarks at the CDP, CRR, CLR, and SBR sites. You can sort bookmarks by name (timestamp). NMMedi_20151228035612_186c8db1-0000000e-0000103c-5681235c-00020c00-651

df529 is an example for a bookmark. The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH communicates with RecoverPoint to get the bookmarked data and backs up the data to a NetWorker device.

Note

Multiple independent backups that involve the same MBI host fail when you concurrently perform the backups. However, this limitation does not apply to XtremIO.

You can view the successfully backed up MEDITECH segments in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI, and recover these MEDITECH segments.

IDR

The IDR backup enables you to register bookmarks by using RecoverPoint. The backup does not save data to a NetWorker device.

RecoverPoint creates bookmarks in the NMMedi_yyyymmddhhMMss_<GUID> format and stores the bookmarks at the CDP, CRR, CLR, and SBR sites. You can sort bookmarks by name (timestamp).

NMMedi_20151228035612_186c8db1-0000000e-0000103c-5681235c-00020c00-651 df529 is an example for a bookmark.

The cataloged bookmarks along with the MEDITECH hostname associations appear in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI, which provides an option to validate the bookmarks.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports IDR backups by using the RecoverPoint, RecoverPoint for virtual machines, VPLEX with RecoverPoint, VNX with RecoverPoint, Unity with RecoverPoint, Symmetrix VMAX with RecoverPoint, and XtremIO with RecoverPoint storage systems.

IDR In-Frame

An IDR In-Frame backup is a point-in-time snapshot of the MEDITECH segments that exist on an array. For the backups to succeed, both the source and target LUNs must exist on the same array. The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports IDR In-Frame backups by using the VNX, Unity, Symmetrix VMAX, Dell Storage SC Series, and XtremIO arrays.

NOTICE

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH does not support overlap of ISB and IDR In-Frame backups. However, this limitation does not apply to the backups that use XtremIO.

Configuring scheduled backups

Use NMC to configure the MEDITECH data backups and perform the backups. If you want to perform a file system backup of the proxy host, you must create a client resource for the host and schedule the backup at a different time.

Note

Ensure that the ISB and IDR backups do not overlap. If both the backups use the same MBI server, one of the backups fails. However, this limitation does not apply to the backups that use XtremIO and RecoverPoint.

Scheduling backups

Ensure that you configured the backup devices before scheduling a backup.

The NetWorker Administration Guide provides information.

Perform the following steps to schedule a backup:

- 1. In the NMC, select Enterprise and add NetWorker servers.
- 2. Right-click a server and select Launch Application.
- 3. In the NetWorker Administration window, select Protection.
- Define groups, clients, policies, workflows, and actions specifically for the MEDITECH hosts:
 - a. Create a group that includes the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy host information. If you perform both the ISB and IDR backups, create a group for each backup.
 - b. Create a client for the proxy server and specify nsrmedisv.exe in the Backup command field on the Apps & Modules tab in the Client Properties dialog box.
 - c. According to your requirements, update the application information variables in the **Application information** field.
 - d. Create a separate coherency group for each type of backup on the proxy host.
 - e. Create a save set to identify each coherency group for the MEDITECH hosts that you created in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI. The syntax of the save set is MEDI:<Coherency Group>.

Use the following save set to perform a single host backup:

<Coherency_Group>/<MBI_Host>

For example, medi1/feni4

Use the following save set to perform a single segment backup:

<Coherency_Group>/<MBI_Host>/<Segment>

For example, medi1/feni4/feni1 E

Assume that you have the following setup:

- A client/server setup with MBISERVER as the MEDITECH host.
- Three file servers FS01, FS02, and FS03.
- Each file server has two segments each on E and G Drives.

With the specified setup, you can use the save set to perform the following tasks:

Back up all the file servers with all the segments.

MEDI:<Coherency_Group> or MEDI:<Coherency_Group>/MBISERVER

• Back up only one file server and both the segments.

MEDI:<Coherency_Group>/MBISERVER/FILESERVER*

For example, MEDI:<Coherency_Group>/MBISERVER/FS01*

- Back up only one file server and a specific segment.
 MEDI:<Coherency_Group>/MBISERVER/FILESERVER DRIVE
 For example, MEDI:<Coherency_Group>/MBISERVER/FS02_G
- Back up multiple file servers and multiple segments: MEDI:<Coherency_Group>/MBISERVER/FILESERVER DRIVE, FILESERVER DRIVE

For example, MEDI:<Coherency_Group>/MBISERVER/FS01*,FS02 E,FS03 G

- f. Ensure that you specify 0 in the **Retries** field on the **Advanced Options** page in the **Policy Action Wizard**.
- g. Schedule the backup.

NOTICE

If you selected the **Concurrent** cloning option in the **Policy Action Wizard** in the **NetWorker Administration** GUI, the concurrent or immediate cloning starts only after all the MEDITECH segments of the selected save set are backed up. The concurrent or immediate cloning applies only to the ISB backups.

To view more information about backups, set the debug level to 5 by using one of the following methods:

- In case of a scheduled backup, specify nsrmedisv -D5 in the **Backup command** field in **Client Properties** dialog box of NMC.
- In case of a manual backup, run the following command: nsrmedisv -s <server_name> -g <save_group> -m <proxy_server_name> -N MEDI:<Coherency_Group> -D5

To back up data to a specific pool by using CLI, run the following command:

nsrmedisv -s <server_name> -g <save_group> -m <proxy_server_name> -b
<media_pool_name> -N <save_set_name>

Checking the backups status

After you start a backup in the NMC, you can check the status of the backup by using the following methods:

- In the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH window, use the Monitor view.
- On the proxy host, check whether the status of the nsrmedisv.exe job is Running in the Windows Task Manager window.
- On the proxy host, open the nsrmedisv.raw file to review the information about the backup job. The default location of the log file is C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr\applogs.

Note

Use the nsr_render_log.exe utility to render the log messages for the nsrmedisv.raw file. The Support team provides more information about this utility.

• On the NetWorker server, review the logs in either nsr\tmp\policy \<policy_name> or nsr\logs\policy\<policy_name>

After the ISBs complete, the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH resynchronizes the clone and production LUNs regardless of the status of the backups.

Viewing the backups status and reports

Use one of the following methods to view the status of the backups:

 View the status of the NetWorker group in the Policies panel in the NetWorker Administration window.

Figure 26 Status of the backups

N EMO	NetWorker	Admini	stration Vd	lev - tur	nga3 (No	etWorker	dev.Build.7	632 Eval	Windows	NT Servei	[.] on Inte	el)			_ [I ×
	Aonitoring	问 Pro	otection	E Re	cover		evices	😐 Me	dia	📮 Hosts		Serv	er User:	admin	istrat	or
File	Ealth Minut	Manifa	vine \0.6n de		lus.	_										
File	Ealt view	Monito	ring windo	w He	р											
Policie	es														Ŧ	×
Name				Stat	us	Gro	up	Start 1	ïme		Duratio	n Next Ru	ID	Save	Set	N:
- -	POLICY_CLOP	VE_ISB			\checkmark			2/12/1	5 9:00:01 PN	1						
	C WORKFL	OW_CLC	NE_ISB		\checkmark	GR	OUP_CLONE	_I 2/12/1	5 9:00:01 PN	00:05:40						33
	🗄 🧐 ACTIO	DN_CLOP	VE_ISB			GR	OUP_CLONE	_I 2/12/1	5 9:00:02 PN	00:05:28	3					-
				33	995 											•
	🛛 Policies 📃 🛽	C Actior	ns													
All Se:	ssions														무	×
Type	Client Name	•	Save Set	Policy		Group	Start T	ime	Duration	Device		Size				Rate
.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,				1. 0.00)		o.oup			Daration	201100	1	0.201				
	All Sessions	s 🔲 S	Save Sessior	ns 📃 💷	Recover	r Sessions	Clone	Sessions	Synthe	tic Full Ses	sions					
Device	es														무	×
Status	Device 💌				Storage	No Libra	ry		Volume		Pool		Message			
	dev1				tunga3				tunga3.00	11	MEDITEC	н	writing, d	one		
• •																•
Log															무	×
Priority	Time 🔻		Source		Category	/ Message										
-	Thursday 9:0	0:01 PM	event		protect	. Starting a	ction 'Server	db backup	for workflo	w 'Server I	Protection	/Server b	ackup':1335	57:		
-	Thursday 9:0	0:01 PM	event		protect	. Starting a	ction 'Expirat	ion' for wo	kflow 'Serve	er Protectio	n/Server	maintenar	nce':133557	1		333
	Thursday 9:0	0:01 PM	event		protect	. Starting a	ction 'ACTIO	N_CLONE_I	SB' for work	flow 'POLI	CY_CLON	E_ISBAVO	RKFLOW	CLONE	_IS	
-	Thursday 9:0	0:03 PM	event		index	Completed	d checking 1	client(s):9	354:							
-	Thursday 9:0	0:03 PM	event		index	C:VegatoV	nsr\index\tur	nga3 contair	ns 40 record	ls occupyin	g 11 KB :	31713:				
	Thursday 9:0	0:03 PM	event		index	Checking	index for clie	ent "tunga3"	:113428:							
	Thursdou 0.0	0-04 DM	ouant		modio	Modio dot	ohaaa ia taa	uming onor	-tiono -1115	77.					_	•

• Configure NetWorker to email a notification about the status of each completed backup to the administrators.

Note

It is recommended that you configure NetWorker to email a notification only when a backup fails.

Figure 27 email notification

EMC NetWorker Adn	ninistration ¥dev - tur	nga3 (NetWorker	dev.Build.7632 Eval - \	Windows NT Serve	r on Intel)	
Monitoring 💟	Protection 📑 Re	ecover 🗮 🛙	evices 🤗 Medi	a 📮 Hosts	s Server	User: administrator
File Edit View Ser	rver Window Help					
E─	😅 Notifications (29	9)				
- <-> Directives	Name 🔻	Comment	Event	Priority	Action	
-Cockboxes	😅 Index size		Index	Emergency, Alert	nsrlog -f "C:VegatoVnsrVo	ogs\index.log"
- Potifications	😅 Log default		Media, Index, Server,	Emergency, Alert	nsrlog	
- 🕅 Registrations	🖳 NetWorker Daemon	s No	NetWorker Daemons	Critical	smtpmail -h mailhost -s "	NetWorker Daemon
Restricted Data	🖳 New Virtual Machin	e	Hypervisor	Alert, Notice	nsrlog	
- 🔂 Security Audit	😐 Policy completion		Protection Policy	Alert, Notice	nsrlog -f "C:Vegato\nsr\lo	ogs\policy.log"
Time Policies	📟 Protection Policy Fa	ilure	Protection Policy Failure	Alert	smtpmail -h mailhost -s "	Resource File Corru
- Oser Groups	🖽 Registration		Registration	Emergency, Alert	nsrlog	
	🖳 Resource File Corru	uption	Resource File	Alert	smtpmail -h mailhost -s "	Resource File Corru
	😇 Saveset marked su	spect	Media	Alert	smtpmail -h mailhost -s "	Saveset marked su
	SNMP notification re	equest	Media, Index, Server,	Waiting, Alert, Cri	"C: Vegato \nsr\bin \nsrtra;	o.exe" localhost 📃 💌
Log						р Парх
		o				
Priority Time •	Source	Category Message				
Thursday 9:00:01	PM event	protect Starting a	ction 'Server db backup' f	or workflow 'Server	Protection/Server backup	*133557:
Thursday 9:00:01	PM event	protect Starting a	ection 'Expiration' for work	flow 'Server Protectio	on/Server maintenance':1	33557:
Thursday 9:00:01	PM event	protect Starting a	ection 'ACTION_CLONE_IS	B' for workflow 'POLI	CY_CLONE_ISBAWORKFL	.OW_CLONE_ISB':1
Thursday 9:00:03	PM event	index Complete	d checking 1 client(s) :935	54:		
Thursday 9:00:03	PM event	index C:Vegato	nsr\index\tunga3 contains	40 records occupyir	ng 11 KB :31713:	
Thursday 9:00:03	PM event	Index Checking	Index for client 'tunga3' :1	13428:		-
Thursday 0:00:041		modio do	tohooo io rooumina onoroti	ARA -111677-		

Use one of the following methods to configure NetWorker to email the notification:

- Use the default notification:
 - 1. In the NetWorker Administration window, click Server.
 - 2. In the left panel, select Notifications.
 - 3. In the **Notifications** panel, right-click **Protection Policy Failure** and select **Properties**.
 - 4. In the Notification Properties dialog box, perform the following steps:
 - a. On the **General** tab, in the **Action** field, type smtpmail -h mailhost s <"message"> <user>.
 - b. Click OK.
- Create a custom notification:
 - 1. In the NetWorker Administration window, click Server.
 - 2. In the left panel, right-click Notifications and select New.
 - 3. In the Notification Properties dialog box, perform the following steps:
 - a. On the General tab, specify the following fields:
 - **Name**: Type a name for the notification.
 - **Comments**: Type comments that pertain to notification.
 - Event: Select the events for the notification.
 - **Priority**: Specify the priority of the notification.
 - Action: Type smtpmail -h mailhost -s <"message"> <user>
 - b. Click OK.

Use the NMC to view the MEDITECH groups, clients, and servers reports.

- 1. In the NMC, click **Reports**.
- 2. In the left panel, expand the **Policy Statistics** folder and select an option to view the statistics.
- 3. In the right panel, on the **Configure** tab, configure the parameters to include in the report.

Figure 28 Configure reports

🗊 EMC NetWorker Management Cons	ole ¥dev - tunga3	
Enterprise Provide Reports	Co Setup	User: administrator
File Edit View Reports Window	Help	
⊨-■ Reports	U Policy Statistics: Client Sum	mary by Group
Policy Summary Policy Summary Policy Summary Policy Summary Policy Summary Policy Summary Policy Action Summary by Policy a Policy Summary Policy Summary Policy Summary Policy Summary	Configure \View Report \ Drill Down Sequence: Group Summary Client Summary	
	Parameters	
Workflow Details	Server Name Available:	Server Name Selected:
Action Details Action Details by Workflow Bevices Be	Policy Name Available:	<pre>> tunga3 >> Control Contr</pre>
	Group Available:	GROUP_CLONE_ISB

4. Click View Report.

Backing up the configuration file

Each NetWorker Module for MEDITECH backup backs up the mediconfig.xml configuration file. You can also back up the configuration file by using the NetWorker User program.

Procedure

- On the proxy host, select Start > All Programs > EMC NetWorker > NetWorker User.
- 2. Connect to the NetWorker server that you use to perform scheduled backups.

- 3. Click the **Backup** icon.
- 4. In the left panel, navigate to the folder that contains the configuration file and select the file.
- 5. Click Start.

Backups

CHAPTER 6

Recoveries

This chapter includes the following sections:

•	Recovering ISB data	.72
•	Recovering IDR data	75
•	Recovering IDR In-Frame data	79
•	Performing redirected recoveries	.87
•	Recovering the configuration file	87

Recovering ISB data

You can perform only ISB data recoveries by using the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI. Always contact your MEDITECH HCIS coordinator or the MEDITECH Systems Support Group if you have a problem that necessitates a data recovery. You must involve MEDITECH professionals to perform recoveries.

Before you begin

Ensure that you meet the following requirements:

- The LUN is a raw disk, that is, the LUN does not have a file system, but is online (accessible and is in the ready state).
- The target LUN size is more than or the same as the source LUN size.
- To recover data to the target LUN:
 - The target LUN is not in a Read Only state.
 - The target LUN is a raw disk, that is, the LUN does not have a file system.

Note

To recover data to the original target LUN instead of another disk, break the relationship between the source and target LUNs. However, this requirement does not apply to the backups that used VNX-SNAP, Unity, XtremIO, or Dell Storage SC Series. When you use RecoverPoint for virtual machine, the target can be a VMDK.

- When you use VNX-SNAP, Unity, XtremIO, or Dell Storage SC Series, you must use a new LUN to perform the recovery.
- When you use RecoverPoint for virtual machine, target can be either a LUN or a VMware disk.

Procedure

- 1. In the **NetWorker Module for MEDITECH** window, click **Recover**.
- 2. Select the NetWorker server that you used to back up data.

Selecting a NetWorker server on page 29 provides information.

3. Click the Browse time icon.

The Change Time dialog box appears.

Figure 29 Change time

Change Time 🗙
3/24/2014 🗸 3:33:33 PM 文
Use current time
<u> </u>

The default values are the current date and the current time.

4. Select the date and time either on or before which you performed the latest backup and click **OK**.
5. On the **Recover** page, select the coherency group that has the required backed up segments to recover.

The backed up segments appear in the right panel.

Figure 30 ISB backed up segments

8		Net	Worker Module	e for N	MEDITECH	ł	L	- 0	x
<u>F</u> ile <u>H</u> elp									
NetWorker server:	10.31.224.198 💻		Clien	t: PW	SVQ198				
Configure	Browse time: 3/24	4/2014 3	:33:33 PM 🛅						
Becover	E 💑 Coherency G	roups	MAGIC Name	LUN	Bookmark	Validation Status	Size	Array	
	MDF		MIF502 G	ВСБ		Not Validated	5242 MB	00019	2601677
Monitor									
			/		1				
	Basayar	L	`						
	MAGIC Name	Tupe	Backup Time	Ck	ne LUN	Arrau	Target	LUN	Dectinat
	MTFS02 G	ISB	3/13/2014 5:36	: BC	76	000192601677	BC6	LON	Destinat
	<								>
	<u></u>								

You can perform the following optional steps:

• To view the properties of a segment, right-click the segment and select **Properties**.

In the LUN Properties dialog box, review the information and click OK.

• To select the specific versions of a segment to recover, right-click the segment and select **Versions**.

In the **Versions** dialog box, select the versions of the required backed up segments to recover and click **OK**.

 To retrieve information about the NetWorker volume that contains the backed up MEDITECH segments, right-click the segment and select Required Volumes.

In the **Required NetWorker Volumes** dialog box, review the details and click **OK**.

6. Select the segments to recover.

The selected segments appear in the Recover panel.

7. Right-click the segment in the **Recover** panel and select **Target Destination** to select the destination for the recovery data.

The Select Target LUN dialog box appears.

Figure 31 Select target LUN

	Select Ta	rget LUN		- 🗆 X
Array 00	0192601677 🗸		<u>R</u> efresh	
LUN	Name	Size		
🗌 B97	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE6	5242 MB		
🗌 B98	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE7	5242 MB		
🗌 B99	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE8	5242 MB		
🗌 B9A	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE9	5242 MB		
🗌 B9B	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE10	5242 MB		
🗌 B9C	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE11	5242 MB		
🗌 BC4	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE3	5242 MB		
BC5	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE4	5242 MB		
BC6	\\.\PHYSICALDRIVE5	5242 MB		
			<u>D</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel

- 8. Perform the following steps in the dialog box:
 - a. From the **Array** list, select the array that contains the target LUNs to recover the selected segment.
 - b. Click **Refresh** to update the list of LUNs for the selected array.
 - c. Select the LUNs.
 - d. Click OK.
- 9. Repeat step 7 and step 8 for all the segments in the Recover panel.
- 10. Click Start.

After you finish

- Restart the proxy host.
- Use one of the following methods to view the status of the recoveries:
 - In the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH window, use the Monitor view.
 - On the proxy host, open the nsrmedirc.raw file to review the information about the recovery job. The default location of the log file is C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr\applogs.
- If the target LUN is not mounted with the recovered data, perform one of the following tasks:
 - Restart the proxy host.
 - Check for stale volume GUIDs by using the mountvol /p command, and then restart the proxy host.
 - If a drive letter is not automatically assigned, manually assign it. Do not format the disk.
 - Recover the data to the same LUN.

Recovering IDR data

NOTICE

This IDR process also applies to the VNX with RecoverPoint, Unity with RecoverPoint, Symmetrix VMAX with RecoverPoint, VPLEX with RecoverPoint, XtremIO with RecoverPoint, and RecoverPoint for virtual machine configurations.

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH provides the administrative information that recovering the IDR data requires. To recover IDR data, you must contact the MEDITECH Systems Support Group for assistance. Always contact your MEDITECH HCIS coordinator or the MEDITECH Systems Support Group if you have a problem that necessitates a data recovery. You must involve MEDITECH professionals to perform recoveries.

For IDR data recoveries, the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI enables you to only view the backed up segments and the associated bookmarks.

To view the backed up information by using the CLI, run the following command on the NetWorker server:

nsrmedirc -s <NetWorker_server> -x

The recovery saves a .csv file with the backup information in the C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr\applogs folder.

Procedure

- 1. In the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH window, click Recover.
- 2. Select the NetWorker server that you used to back up data.

Selecting a NetWorker server on page 29 provides information.

3. Click the **Browse time** icon.

The Change Time dialog box appears.

Figure 32 Change time

Change Time 🗙
3/24/2014 🗸 3:33:33 PM 文
Use current time
<u>Q</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

The default values are the current date and the current time.

- 4. Select the date and time either on or before which you performed the backups that you want to view and click **OK**.
- 5. On the **Recover** page, select the coherency group that has the required backed up segments to recover.

The backed up segments appear in the right panel.

Figure 33 IDR backed up segments

8				NetWorker Mo	odule for I	MEDIT	ECH			– – X
<u>F</u> ile	<u>H</u> elp									
NetWo	orker serve	r: trishul1 🧾		Client:	TRISHUL1					
1 To	Configure	Browse time: 5	/28/2014	4:34:58 AM 🛅						
		🖃 🎭 Coherenc	y Groups	MAGIC Name	LUN	Bookn	nark	Validation Status	Size	Array
F F	lecover	📔 🚽 🧞 IDR		🗌 🧾 AGNI1 P	local target	nw_er	n_140127	Not Validated	0 KB	10.31.225.233
5	Honitor			🗌 📴 AGNI1 Q	local target	nw_er	n_140127	Not Validated	0 KB	10.31.225.233
				<	Ш					>
		Recover	Star	t						
		MAGIC Name	Туре	Backup Time	Clone	LUN	Array	Targ	et LUN	Destinat
O	64034 🕕	64036 🚺 64035	0 64039	64037 🚺 64	4038 🕕 640	40 🕕	64046 🕕 6	64063 🕕 64064	0 640	065 🕕 64074 🔡

- 6. [Optional] You can perform the following steps:
 - To view the properties of a segment, right-click the segment and select **Properties**.

In the LUN Properties dialog box, review the information and click OK.

• To select the specific versions of a segment to recover, right-click the segment and select **Versions**.

In the **Versions** dialog box, select the versions of the required backed up segments to recover and click **OK**.

- 7. Note the segment that you want to restore, right-click the segment, and then select **Validate Bookmarks**.
- 8. Start the Unisphere for RecoverPoint GUI.
- 9. Click Recovery > Test a Copy and Recover Production.
- 10. On the Select a Copy page:
 - a. Select the consistency group, to which the segment that you want to restore belongs.
 - b. From either the non-production copy list or the diagram, select the nonproduction copy.

Unisphere for Re	ecoverPoint v4.1.0		@] 2.
Dashboard	Protection 😫 Recovery	1 RPA Clusters 🚑 Admin 🕜 Support	
RecoverPoint > Recover	ery > Test a Copy and Recover Production		
	1 Select a Copy		3
1 Select a Copy	Select a consistency group:	Select a non-production copy:	
-	g1	c1 at New York	
	g2	c2 at New York	
1	93	c3 at London	
2 Select an Image		n1	
		y.	
1.1			
3 Start Recovery		Tel at liaw York	
1	Select a group set:		
	GS1	and the second	
	GS2		
		disturson Role: Local Copy	
		Storage: No Access	
		Image: Distributing 28/04/2014 07:56:20	
		< Back Next Select an Image > Save & Close Fit	nish Cancel
Connected to RPA1 at Ne	ew York 🛛 Alerts: 😺 0 Criticals 🤤 0 Error	A / Warnings Time displayed in: Local Time (America/New_York) User: admit	n Role: admin

Figure 34 Unisphere for RecoverPoint - Select a copy

- c. Click Next Select an Image.
- 11. On the Select an Image page:
 - a. From the **Image to access** list, select the source, from which you want to access the image.
 - b. To access the image, select the mode, such as the **Logged access** (physical), or the Virtual access (instant).

Figure 35 Unisphere for RecoverPoint - Select an Image

Unis	phere for Recove	erPoint v4.0(f.211)												J	?.
e	Dashboard	Protection	2	Recovery	R	PA Clusters	âg	Admin	0	Support			~		
Recov	verPoint > Recover er Production Wiza	y > Recover Production rd	on										2 Y	n 9.	- 3
1	Select a Copy	2 Select an Image Image to access: An image from the ima	ige list	~	Image access	mode: 🖲 Log 🔵 Virt	ged acces wal acces	is (physica s (instant)	il) Roll in	nage in backg	round				3
2	Select an Image	Point in Time (GMT)	1.	Size	Bookmark	Consistency			Consolidat	ion Policy					-
3	Start Recovery	Pre-replication image 4/30/2013 9:17:41 AM 4/30/2013 9:18:38 AM 4/30/2013 9:18:38 AM 4/30/2013 9:20:32 AM 4/30/2013 9:22:29 AM 4/30/2013 9:22:26 AM 4/30/2013 9:23:24 AM 4/30/2013 9:25:18 AM		9.537MB 4.954GB 4.991GB 5.118GB 4.991GB 4.990GB 5.060GB 5.000GB 4.974GB 4.935GB		Crash-Consi Crash-Consi Crash-Consi Crash-Consi Crash-Consi Crash-Consi Crash-Consi Crash-Consi Crash-Consi	stent stent stent stent stent stent stent stent		Always Co Always Co Always Co Always Co Always Co Always Co Always Co Always Co Always Co Always Co	nsolidate nsolidate nsolidate nsolidate nsolidate nsolidate nsolidate nsolidate				269 8	v
Cont	vected to PRA1 at New	Vark Alastra 🛐 0.0	viticale	O Ermr	< Back to S	Select a Copy	Next St	art Recove	sry ≻			licer	Finish	Can	cel
Conr	lected to KPA1 at New	TURK Alerts: 🥶 U.C.	riticals	U Erron	s 👝 6 warr	mings						User:	aumin	Kore: ac	muu

- c. Mount the copy volumes that you want to access, and then import volume groups.
- d. Click Next Start Recovery.

RecoverPoint starts enabling access to the selected image.

12. On the Start Recovery page:

a. Click Next.

Figure 36 Unisphere for RecoverPoint - Start Recovery



b. Wait for the image access to be enabled.

Note the status of the **Image access log capacity** progress bar. It indicates the remaining amount of time to access the image before the writes to the copy are blocked. You can add journal volumes, undo writes, enable direct access, or disable image access.

c. Test the copy image to ensure that it suits your requirement.

Note the status of the **Image access log capacity** progress bar. It indicates the remaining amount of time to access the image before the writes to the copy are blocked. You can add journal volumes, undo writes, enable direct access, or disable image access.

While testing the copy image, you can perform the following tasks:

 To undo all writes to the copy volumes without disabling the image access, click Undo Writes.

Note

Before you click **Undo Writes**, shut down all applications that access the copy volumes on the host, unmount all copy volumes, and then deport volume groups. After the writes are undone, mount the copy volumes, and then import volume groups to continue testing.

- To disable the image access, click Cancel.
- To exit the wizard without disabling the image access, click Save & Close.
- d. (Optional) To remove writes to the production copy before recovering it, click **Undo Writes**, and then on the copy host, unmount the copy volumes, and then deport volume groups.

Note

If you do not undo writes before the image access is enabled, and you click **Finish**, any writes made to the copy are transferred to the production.

e. Click Finish.

Recovering IDR In-Frame data

Before you begin

To view the backed up information by using the CLI, run the following command on the NetWorker server:

nsrmedirc -s <NetWorker_server> -x

The recovery saves a .csv file with the backup information in the C:\Program Files\EMC NetWorker\nsr\applogs folder.

Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use VNX

Procedure

- 1. Perform steps 1 through 5 that the Recovering IDR data on page 75 section describes.
- 2. Right-click the segment to restore and select Properties.

The LUN Properties - IDR In-Frame dialog box appears.

Figure 37 VNX LUN properties

🤰 LUN Properties II	DR-INFRAME	×
MAGIC Name:	ORION1 E	
Backup Type:	IDR	
Array:	APM00143204089	
SMP:	N/A	
LUN Size:	N/A	
Backup Time:	10/4/2016 6:47:57 PM	
Fracture Time:	10/4/2016 6:47:15 PM	
Host Name:	ORION4	
Snapshot Name:	ad549bfe-0000000a-00001a28-57f3abc1-000c1a00-da6538ai	
Сору Туре:	IDR-INFRAME	
	<u><u>D</u>K</u>	

- 3. From the **Snapshot Name** field, note the value.
- 4. Start EMC Unisphere GUI.
- 5. Click Data Protection > Snapshots.
- 6. On the Snapshots tab:
 - a. Under **Source/Snapshot**, expand the LUN that contains the snapshot name that you noted in step 3.

Note

Ensure that you stopped input and output to the source LUN, flushed the cached data from the host operating system, and then unmounted the source LUN from the host.

b. Right-click the snapshot, and then select Restore.

Figure 38 Unisphere for VNX

EMC Unisphere - Windows Internet Explorer							
http://10.63.96.12/start.html							
MC Unisphere					Po	ol LUN	▼ Se
< > 🏠 🗊 APM00143204089 🗹 🔠 Dashboard 📲 System 🧊 Sto	rage	闄 Hosts	D.	ata Proted	tion 🐇	Settings	🙆 Support
APM00143204089 > Data Protection > Snapshots							
Snapshots SnapView Snapshots							
Source/Snapshot						1	। 🖓 🔍 📑 🤇
T Filter for							
Name	Crea	Modified	State	Туре	Primar M	10 Attached	Ex ID
🖻 💖 cg_symra			Ready	Consist	DPAD		00:00:00
DPADCHS4B7_97_15_17			Ready	LUN	DPAD	DPADCH.	53
-16 Backup Snapshot:2017-05-30 02:59:50	2017	No	Ready	Snapshot	DPAD		
- 16 Backup Snapshot:2017-05-30 03:02:21	2017	No	Ready	Snapshot	DPAD		
LR cf279718-0000000a-00001324-58e7b123-00041a00-da6538a0-201703072102000	10 2017	Yes	Ready	Snapshot	DPAD		
• E DPADCHS4B7_97_15_18	Attach	shot	Ready	LUN	DPAD	DPADCH	. 54
H = DPADCHS4B7_97_15_19	Detach		Ready	LUN	DPAD	DPADCH.	. 55
W PADCHS4B7_LUN37	Restore		Ready	Consist	DPAD		00:00:00:
• V MEDI_ORION6_1	Properties		Ready	Consist	DPAD		00:00:00:
I W MEDITECH_CG_AUT01	nëlete		Ready	Consist	DPAD		00:00:00:
₩ 📲 Win_2016_CG			Ready	Consist	DPAD		00:00:00:

- 7. In the confirmation dialog box, click Yes.
- 8. In the **Replace LUN Data with Snapshot Data** dialog box, select the snapshot from the list, and then click **OK**.

Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use Symmetrix VMAX

You can recover IDR In-Frame data according to the Symmetrix VMAX's snapshot technology that you use. The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH supports the Symmetrix VMAX's VPSNAP and SNAPVX snapshot technologies.

Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use the VPSNAP snapshot technology

Procedure

- 1. On the proxy host, identify a Symmetrix VMAX LUN as the target, and then note the name or value of it.
- Perform steps 1 through 5 that the Recovering IDR data on page 75 section describes.
- 3. Right-click the segment to restore and select Properties.

Ũ	LUN Properties INFRAME
MAGIC Name:	ANDROMEDA1 H
Backup Type:	IDR
Array:	000196700638
Clone LUN:	01BA5
LUN Size:	5243 MB
Backup Time:	10/4/2016 4:02:54 AM
Fracture Time:	10/4/2016 4:02:20 AM
Host Name:	andromeda4
Сору Туре:	IDR-INFRAME
	<u>D</u> K

Figure 39 Symmetrix VMAX VPSNAP - LUN properties

- 4. From the Clone LUN field, note the value.
- 5. Create a device file, which is a .txt file that must contain the source and target LUN IDs that are separated by a space.

For the source LUN ID, specify the Clone LUN value that you noted in step 4. For the target LUN ID, specify the value that you noted in step 1.

6. To perform the recovery, run the following Symcli command:

symclone -sid <Symmetrix_ID> -f <device_filename> restore

For example, symclone -sid 638 -f device.txt restore.

The Symmetrix VMAX documents provide more information about the Symcli commands.

Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use the SNAPVX snapshot technology

Procedure

- 1. Perform steps 1 through 5 that the Recovering IDR data on page 75 section describes.
- 2. Right-click the segment to restore and select Properties.

Ü l	UN Properties - IDR In-Frame
MAGIC Name:	SOFIA1 E
Backup Type:	IDR
Алтау:	000196700638
Clone LUN:	NMMedi_1510004321
LUN Size:	0 KB
Backup Time:	11/7/2017 3:1‡:52 AM
Fracture Time:	11/7/2017 3:10:36 AM
Host Name:	SOFIA3
Copy Type:	IDR-INFRAME
	ОК

Figure 40 Symmetrix VMAX SNAPVX - LUN properties

- 3. From the Clone LUN field, note the value.
- 4. To perform the recovery, run the following Symcli command:

```
symsnapvx -sid <Symmetrix_ID> -dev <device_ID> -snapshot_name
<snapshot_name> restore
```

For <snapshot_name>, specify the Clone LUN value that you noted in step 3.

For example, symsnapvx -sid 638 -dev 031EA -snapshot_name NMMedi_1504871195 restore.

The Symmetrix VMAX documents provide more information about the Symcli commands.

Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use Unity

Procedure

- 1. Perform steps 1 through 5 that the Recovering IDR data on page 75 section describes.
- 2. Right-click the segment to restore and select Properties.

Figure 41 Unity LUN properties

i L	UN Properties IDR-INFRAME
MAGIC Name:	LEDMA095 E
Backup Type:	IDR
Алтау:	FNM00153200005
SMP:	N/A
LUN Size:	N/A
Backup Time:	9/17/2016 10:33:54 AM
Fracture Time:	9/17/2016 10:29:37 AM
Host Name:	ledma094
Snapshot Name:	772c9cbf-0000000a-00002a10-57dd4fe1-00015000-c8a4b056
Copy Type:	IDR-INFRAME
	<u>Q</u> K

- 3. From the Snapshot Name field, note the value.
- 4. By using the snapshot value that you have noted, use one of the following methods to recover the image:
 - Unisphere GUI:
 - a. In the EMC² Unisphere GUI, in the left panel, select **Block**.
 - b. In the right panel, on the Consistency Groups tab, double-click the consistency group that contains the LUNs to recover. The <Consistency_Group> Properties dialog box appears.

ledma096_CG	_1 Prop	perties								€ ⊗
General	LUI	UNs Access		Access FAST VP Snapshots		Repli	cation			
Snapshots		+	🗎 C 🎤	Mor	e Actions	Ŧ			2	items 🗑 - 🔅 -
Snapshot Sche	dule	Na	ame	÷	State	Tak	en	Auto-De	Taken	Attached
		e	2d1204e-0000000	a	Re	9/1	17/2016, 5:05:4	No	back	No
		Z 7	f2c9cbf-0000000a	-0	Re	9/1	17/2016, 8:00:0	No	back	No
			7f2c9cbf-00	0000	0 <mark>a-00002</mark>	<mark>a10-</mark>	57dd4fe1-00015000)-c8a4b056-2	01608171	0140000
										Close

Figure 42 Unisphere - Consistency Group properties

- c. On the **Snapshots** tab:
 - a. Select the snapshot to recover.

- b. From the More Actions list, select Restore.
- Unisphere CLI: Run the following command:

```
uemcli -d <Unity_IP_Address> -u <Unity_Username> -p
<Unity Password> /prot/snap -name <Snapshot Name> restore
```

Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use XtremIO

Procedure

- 1. Perform steps 1 through 5 that the Recovering IDR data on page 75 section describes.
- 2. Right-click the segment to restore and select Properties.

The LUN Properties - IDR In-Frame dialog box appears.

Figure 43 XtremIO LUN properties

LUN Properties IDR-INFRAME				
MAGIC Name:	MTFS01 E			
Backup Type:	IDR			
Array:	XtremIO			
SMP:				
LUN Size:	0 KB			
Backup Time:	4/11/2016 5:49:33 PM			
Fracture Time:	4/11/2016 5:46:53 PM			
Host Name:	Default			
Snapshot Name:	NMMedi_snapshot_DPAD_XIO_31_1_C1_2018.9.4T21.2.			
Сору Туре:	IDR-INFRAME			
	<u>Ω</u> K			

3. From the **Snapshot Name** field, copy the value, and note the cluster name that is present in the value.

The value in this field is in the following format:

NMMEDI_snapshot_<cluster_name>_<timestamp_in_ISO_format>

4. Log in to the XMS device and start **XtremIO Storage Management Application**.

Figure 44 XtremIO Storage Management Application

🔀 XtremIO Storage Management Ap	plication - 10.63.28.51					-	
EMC ² 🕅 XtremIC	Dashboard Configur	ation Alerts & Events	Reports	System Adminis	(? tration Suppo) (i	out Logout
6 DPAD_XIO_31_1_C1 ▼ 👬							
Storage 🧳	S Volume						
Filter Tags	Create Volume Re Protect	tion (read-only snapsho ncy Group 🛛 🛱 Create/M	ot) 🔹 Copy lodify Mapp	∕ (writable snapsl bing	not)		
> Snapshot Sets (658 total)	NMMedi_snapshot_DPAD_X	🗟 🗹 Writable 🗌 Re	ead-only	Mapped	Unmapped	Volum	e 🗹 Snapsho
> 🖬 Initiator Groups (105 total)	Name					Creation 1	lime
 Initiators (157 total) Protection Schedulers (1 total) 	ESXi_63_97_15_2.NMMed ESXi_63_97_15_3.NMMed ESXi_63_97_15_4.NMMed	i_snapshot_DPAD_XIO_ i_snapshot_DPAD_XIO_ i_snapshot_DPAD_XIO_	31_1_C1_201 31_1_C1_201 31_1_C1_201	18.9.4T21.2.28.40 18.9.4T21.2.28.40 18.9.4T21.2.28.40	9 9 9	Sep 5, 20 Sep 5, 20 Sep 5, 20	18 6:30:02 18 6:30:02 18 6:30:02
	Manning 📾 Volume Snar	oshot Gr 🔊 Consista	nov Groups	Chanchot Cot	Rotectic	on Schedul	A Alarts
	Name	Creation Time	Read-o	Mapped Orig	inated From	Numb	er of Volumes
	NMMedi_snapshot_DPA	Sep 5, 2018 6:30:02		✓ Vol	umes	5	
	< 1 Snapshot Set of 1 Volume						>
	5 Volumes displ 1 selected Filters : "NMMe	layed (4532 total) di_snapshot_DPAD_XIO	_31_1_C1_20)18.9.4T21.2.28.4	09"; Writable		
DPAD_XIO_31_1_C1 - Active	XMS: Sep 20, 2	018 1:16:19 AM IST L	ocal: Sep 19	9, 2018 3:54:45 PI	N IST	nm	muser

Note

This XtremIO Storage Management Application GUI pertains to XtremIO 4.0.1. The GUI can vary in different versions.

- 5. Click the **Configuration** tab.
- 6. From the list, select the cluster name that you have noted in step 3.
- 7. In the left panel, select Volumes.
- 8. In the right panel, in the text box, paste the value that you have copied in step 3, and then click the search icon.

The IDR In-Frame snapshots of the volumes at the specific point-in-time appear in the table.

- 9. In the table, right-click the relevant snapshot, and then select Protections \Copies > Refresh this Volume.
- 10. In the message box that appears, click Yes.

The Refresh from writable Snapshot copy dialog box appears.

- 11. On the Select Snapshot page, from the list of snapshots, select the snapshot to recover.
- 12. Click Finish.

Recovering IDR In-Frame data when you use Dell Storage SC Series

Procedure

- 1. Perform steps 1 through 5 that the Recovering IDR data on page 75 section describes.
- 2. Right-click the segment to restore and select Properties.

Image: LUN Properties - IDR In-Frame X				
MAGIC Name:	DRIVE01 E			
Backup Type:	IDR			
Алтау:	win-3rccvkkg9ag			
SMP:	N/A			
LUN Size:	N/A			
Backup Time:	4/5/2017 2:26:34 AM			
Fracture Time:	4/5/2017 2:26:20 AM			
Host Name:	Drive02			
Snapshot Name:	CMPL2,LV of PS3DRV01 Volume 2,25632.57,NMMedi_2017.			
Copy Type:	IDR-INFRAME			
	ОК			

Figure 45 Dell Storage SC Series LUN properties

3. From the **Snapshot Name** field, note the value.

The value in this field is in the following format:

<storage_controller_name>,<volume_name>,<volume_instance_ID>,<snapshot _description>

4. Log in to Dell Storage Manager.

Figure 46 Dell Storage Manager

STORAGE MANAGER							R	efresh Edit Da	a Collector Settings Edit User :
Storage ans Darge ans	Wate O Io Usage C LV of PS3DRV0 Hote 57 Active Cetroler 57 St 22 Summery Mage hgs Freeze Tree	Charting 2 1 Volume 2 RV01_NMMEDLTest 6633 Historical Usage S Expire Time	Alerts C Logs Server Usage Server Usage Server Space Free Space Actus Space Snapshot Overhead Actus Space Snapshots Size	 Show Show Ed 5 G8 4 96 G8 4 96 G8 4 96 G8 10 M8 52 M8 Threadold Alex 54 of Actual 	Hi Satting Map Volume 1 Dis 5 0 9 (0 515%) To (0 25%) Ac 5 0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	to Server 3 Remove Mapping () Cre k Usage tal Dak Space 5 to tal Space 5 to Doorstaat 0 to D Doorstaat 0 to Space Recovery	10 MB 31 MB 31 MB (72.41%) (17.24%) (10.34%)	Expand Vol	reads South Section 2015
B Snapshot Profiles	4/5/17 2:38:07 AM	Never Expires	0 MB	0%	NMMedi 2017 4 5T2 28 11	9.406 No	Yea	Consistenc	LV of PS3DRV01 Volume 2
	4/3/17 5:09:38 AM	Never Expires	0 MB	0%	NMMed_2017.4.3T4.59.4	5.727 No	Yes	Consistenc	LV of PS3DRV01 Volume 2
	4/3/17 4:56:25 AM	Never Expires	42 MB	80.77%	NMMed_2017.4.3T4.46.3	2.85 Yes	Yes	Consistenc	LV of PS3DRV01 Volume 2

- 5. In the **Storage** panel, expand **Dell Storage**, **Storage Centers**, and then select the Dell Storage SC Series array by using the storage controller name from the value that you have noted in step 3.
- 6. In the right panel, click the **Storage** tab, and then perform the following steps:
 - a. In the left panel, expand the selected <Dell Storage SC Series> array,
 Volumes, and then select the volume by using the volume name from the value that you have noted in step 3.
 - b. In the right panel, click the Snapshots tab, and then identify the snapshot by using the snapshot description from the value that you have noted in step 3.
 - c. Right-click the snapshot, and then select Create Volume from Snapshot.
 - d. In the **Create Volume from Snapshot** dialog box, in the **Name** field, type the name for the snapshot, and then click **OK**.

- e. On the **Storage** tab, in the left panel, under **Volumes**, right-click the volume that you have created, and then select **Map Volume to Server**.
- f. In the Map Volume to Server dialog box, perform the following steps:
 - a. Click Next.
 - b. On the next page, click Finish.
- 7. Rescan the server for new devices.
- Identify the mapped volume by using the World Wide Name (WWN), and then mount it.

You can see the backed up data.

Performing redirected recoveries

You can perform redirected recoveries of only the ISB data. The following procedure describes how to recover the **old_client** (example client name) data to the **new_client** (example client name).

Procedure

- 1. On the new_client, update the etchosts file by using the details of the old_client.
- 2. On old_server, the server on which old_client is configured, configure new_client.
- On old_server, add new_client to the Remote Access list on the Globals (2 of 2) tab in the Client Properties dialog box of old_client.
- On new_client, start the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH by running the following command:

nwmedi -s old_server -c old_client

5. Perform the steps that Recovering ISB data on page 72 describes.

Recovering the configuration file

If you lose the actual configuration file, you can recover the backed up configuration file, and then use it.

Note

Recovering the backed up mediconfig.xml configuration file results in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH configuration settings that are specific to the configuration file that you recover.

Procedure

- On the proxy host, select Start > All Programs > EMC NetWorker > NetWorker User.
- 2. Connect to the NetWorker server that you use to perform the scheduled backups.
- 3. Click the **Recover** icon to browse the files that you or another user backed up.
- 4. In the left panel, navigate to the folder that contains the configuration file and select the file.

5. Click Start.

CHAPTER 7

Troubleshooting

This chapter includes the following section:

Troubleshooting the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH issues

This section lists the common issues with the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH and provides workarounds for these issues:

 After you install the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH and start the GUI, an error screen appears if you have not installed Solutions Enabler.

Workaround:

Install EMC Solutions Enabler 8.4.

• Unable to find the physical drive information on VNX.

Workaround:

- Check whether the clone LUN is surfaced on the proxy host.
- Check whether the location of the Solutions Enabler bin is in the system path.
- For a detailed error information, review the following Solutions Enabler log file. \Program Files\EMC\SYMAPI\log\symapi-<current_date>.log
- During ISBs, physical drives are not rescanned even after a minute. Workaround:

Increase the rescan waiting period to ideally 120 seconds by specifying the following application information variable in the **Application information** field in the **Client Properties** dialog box of the NMC:

NSR_NMMEDI_DEVICE_REFRESH_WAIT_SECS_VAR=120

• The IDR In-Frame backups sometimes fail and report the Error creating media database entries error in the log file. Workaround:

Ignore the error message because though the IDR In-Frame point-in-time snapshots do not appear in the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI, they appear in the array.

• Taking snapshots on an XtremIO array fails and displays the following error:

```
"ERROR: Snapshot of the cluster <cluster_name> has failed.
Snapshot threshold has reached the maximum value. Delete unwanted
snapshots to take a successful snapshot."
```

Workaround:

- 1. By using either the show-clusters command on the XMS device or REST API get clusters command, check the total number of volumes (snapshots) and internal volumes (snapshots) that are created by using RecoverPoint. The internal volumes are invisible unless you use one of these commands.
- 2. Delete the unwanted snapshots.
- Sometimes ISBs and IDR backups fail, and the nsrmedisv.log file contains the following message:

Path to uemcli executable not found. Windows Registry entry "UEMCLI_directory" not set.

Workaround:

Specify the Windows registry setting for the UEMCLI system path as Unity configuration requirements on page 36 describes.

• While adding a Unity array by using the **Add Storage Array** dialog box, when you click **Verify** to validate the IP address and the user credentials, sometimes the following message appears:

You do not have access to perform the requested operation. (Error Code:0x6000001)

Workaround:

Create the user account with necessary privileges as Unity configuration requirements on page 36 describes.

 When you use RecoverPoint for virtual machine to perform an ISB, sometimes RecoverPoint consistency group-related errors, such as access denied, appear. Workaround:

Ignore the errors because the backup operation resumes after some time.

 When you use RecoverPoint for virtual machine to perform ISBs and other operations, sometimes target LUNs remain attached to the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy virtual machine, and consistency group remains in the "Enable Image Access" state.

Workaround:

Manually detach the target LUNs from the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy virtual machine, and then perform the "Disable Image Access" operation on the consistency group.

Note

When LUNs are not present, and consistency group remains in the "Enable Image Access" state, perform the "Disable Image Access" operation on the consistency group.

 In a distributed proxy host environment, if a backup operation crashes after starting secondary proxy host jobs, the secondary proxies continue to roll over LUNs. The backup proceeds, but it is not indexed. So, when you want to recover this backup, the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI does not display it. Workaround:

Manually recover the backups by using their SIDs.

Note

If a backup operation crashes before starting secondary proxy host jobs, the backup does not proceed.

Troubleshooting

APPENDIX A

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH Commands

This appendix includes the following sections:

•	Overview of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH commands	94
•	nsrmedisv	.94
•	nsrmedirc	. 97
•	nwmedi	98

Overview of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH commands

NetWorker Module for MEDITECH commands perform the following functions:

- nsrmedisv backs up the specified MEDITECH data. nsrmedisv on page 94 provides information.
- nsrmedirc recovers the specified NetWorker Module for MEDITECH data objects. nsrmedirc on page 97 provides information.
- nwmedi starts the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI. nwmedi on page 98 provides information.

The nsrmedisv and nsrmedirc commands generate the application logs and save the logs in the nsr\applogs folder on the proxy server host. The logs are cumulative. The commands append the logs whenever you run the commands.

Review the following list before you run the commands:

- Command options can be either lowercase or uppercase. Many commands include options with both cases.
- Brackets ([]) denote optional options and the corresponding values of a command. Do not include brackets when you type the command to perform a backup or a recovery.
- Data items must follow other command options and parameters in the CLI.

nsrmedisv

The nsrmedisv command backs up the MEDITECH data.

Specify nsrmedisv and the command options in either the **Backup command** field in the **Client Properties** dialog box of NMC, or the CLI depending on the method that you use to perform the backup.

Perform the following steps to specify nsrmedisv in the Backup command field:

- 1. In the NetWorker Administration window, click Configuration.
- 2. In the left panel, click Clients.
- 3. In the right panel, right-click the client for the backup and select Properties.
- 4. In the Client Properties dialog box, perform the following steps:
 - a. On the General tab, specify the Save set field.
 - b. On the **Apps & Modules** tab, specify nsrmedisv and the necessary command options in the **Backup command** field.
 - c. Click OK.

Command syntax

The nsrmedisv command has the following syntax:

```
nsrmedisv -s server [-qv ] [-b pool] [-c client] [-e date] [-g
save_group] [-m proxy_server_name] [-E pre_processing_script]
[-N save_set_name] [-P post_processing_script] [-R
backup completion report file] [-y date]
```

To run the preprocessing and postprocessing scripts, you must be either one or all of the following users. The security permission for the preprocessing and postprocessing scripts must be any of the following users:

- Backup Operators Group
- Administrators Group
- SYSTEM

Note

The backup succeeds even if the preprocessing script fails.

The -b and -e command options are valid only for manual backups that you perform by using the Windows command prompt on a client host. Do not use options when you perform a scheduled backup by using the **NetWorker Administration** window.

The -e option specifies an expiration date of a save set. If you set the expiration date, the save set is browsable and non-recyclable till the expiration date.

The -e option supports the following types of dates:

- Absolute Date: The format of this date is *mm/dd/yy hour:min:sec AM/PM*. The default time is 12:00:00 AM.
- Relative Date: The format of this date is *[number] unit*. where *unit* is decade, year, quarter, month, fortnight, week, day, hour, minute, or second.

You must render the nsrmedisv.raw file by using the nsr render log utility.

If you set parallelism to 1, the backup does not start regardless of the priority you set.

You must create the security file as an administrator user if you want to perform backups to VNX by using the CLI. VNX configuration requirements on page 34 provides information about how to create the security file.

Use the nsrmedisv command with the preprocessing and postprocessing script options to perform the following tasks:

• Run the batch files, for example, C:\pre_batch.bat and C:

\post_batch.bat.
nsrmedisv -s server -g group -m masquerade -b pool -E C:
\pre batch.bat -N save set name -P C:\post batch.bat

Run the VB scripts as part of the batch file.
 nsrmedisv -s server -g group -m masquerade -b pool -E C:
 \pre vbscript.bat -N save set name -P C:\post vbscript.bat

where the pre_vbscript.bat and post_vbscript.bat files include the
cscript <vb script name>.vbs entry.

Run the perl files as part of the batch file.
 nsrmedisv -s server -g group -m masquerade -b pool -E C:
 \pre_perlfile.bat -N save_set_name -P C:\post_perlfile.bat

where the pre_perlfile.bat and post_perlfile.bat include the
cpath to perl interpreter> perl cperl script name>.pl entry.

Command options

The following table lists the <code>nsrmedisv</code> command options:

Table 5 nsrmedisv command options

Command options	Descriptions
-S	Specifies the NetWorker server to use to perform the backup.
-q	Displays nsrmedisv messages in quiet mode. Only summary information and error messages appear.
-v	Displays nsrmedisv messages in verbose mode. Verbose mode provides detailed information about the progress of the backup.
-b	Specifies the device pool.
-C	Specifies the NetWorker client to use to perform the backup.
-е	Specifies the expiration date of the save set.
	Note
	Do not use the $-e$ option with the $-y$ option. Otherwise, the backup fails.
-E	Specifies the custom script to run before the backup starts.
-g	Specifies the savegroup. The NetWorker server and the savegrp command use the group parameter to select the media pool.
-m	Specifies the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH proxy server.
-N	Specifies the NetWorker save set name.
	Use the following similar value with the -N option:
	MEDI:medi1/feni4/feni1 E,feni1 F
	where:
	• medi1 is the name of the group
	• feni4 is the name of the MBI server
	• feni1 E is the name of the first segment
	• feni1 F is the name of the second segment
-P	Specifies the custom script that the command must run after the backup completes.
-R	Generates the backup completion report.

Table 5 nsrmedisv command options (continued)

Command options	Descriptions		
-у	Specifies the retention policy of a backup.		
	Note		
	Do not use the $-y$ option with the $-e$ option. Otherwise, the backup fails.		

nsrmedirc

The nsrmedirc command recovers the specified MEDITECH data from the NetWorker host. Specify nsrmedirc and the necessary command options in the CLI to perform the recovery.

Command syntax

The nsrmedirc command has the following syntax.

```
nsrmedirc [-nqVvxz] [-i {nNyYrR}] [-d destination_directory] [-
C storage_array_controller] [-L logical_unit_number] [-S
save_set_ID or clone_ID] [-s server] [-c client] [-t date] [-y
count] MAGICNAME
```

Command options

The following table lists the nsrmedirc command options:

Command options	Description
-n	Disables the recovery to either write or create any files and directories.
-q	Specifies quiet mode for logging messages about the progress of the recovery. Only minimal information, including error messages, is written to the log.
-V	Specifies the version number of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH.
-v	Displays <code>nsrmedirc</code> messages in verbose mode. Verbose mode provides detailed information about the progress of the recovery.
-x	Generates a .csv file in the <code>nsr\applogs</code> folder of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH IDR save sets. You can import the information in the file to a spreadsheet.
-Z	Prints a list of the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH save sets. This list is similar to the output of the NetWorker <code>nsrinfo</code> command.
-i {nNyYrR}	Overwrites a response.
-d	Specifies a Windows Server physical drive to use as an alternate recovery location. The format is -d \\.\ <i><physical_drive_name></physical_drive_name></i> .

Table 6 nsrmedirc command options

Command options	Description
-C	Specifies the storage array name of an alternate recovery destination. You must use this option along with the $-{\rm I}$ option.
-L	Specifies the drive number of an alternate recovery destination. You must use this option along with the $-c$ option.
	If you do not specify any destination options, the command recovers the original data segment. If you use the $-d$ option along with the $-C$ and $-L$ options, <code>nsrmedirc</code> ensures that the destinations agree.
-S	Specifies the save set ID (SSID) or the clone ID (CLONEID). You cannot use SSID along with the $-C$ and $-L$ options.
-s	Specifies the NetWorker server that was used to perform the backup.
-c	Specifies the proxy server client name to use to recover the data.
-t	Recovers data according to the specified date. The specified date must be greater than or equal to the backup date. Use the nsr_getdate command syntax guidelines when you format the date.
-у	Specifies the number of save sets that the $nsrmedirc -x -z$ command output lists.
MAGICNAME	Specifies the name of the MAGIC save set in the following format:
	MEDI:/ <coherency_group>/<logical_object></logical_object></coherency_group>
	where, the logical objects are the save sets that the $\tt nsrmedirc -z$ command output lists.

Table 6 nsrmedirc command options (continued)

nwmedi

The nwmedi command starts the NetWorker Module for MEDITECH GUI.

Command syntax

The nwmedi command has the following syntaxes:

- nwmedi [-s NetWorker_server] in case of a general recovery, where a client name is automatically detected
- nwmedi [-s NetWorker_server] [-c NetWorker_client] in Case of a redirected recovery

Command options

The following table lists the ${\tt nwmedi}$ command options:

Table 7 nwmedi command options

Command options		Description		
	-S	Specifies the NetWorker server.		
	-c	Specifies the NetWorker client.		

The NetWorker Module for MEDITECH Commands